
City of Graham 

City Council Meeting Agenda  

February 13, 2024 

6:00 p.m. 
 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Jennifer Talley 
 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

a. To approve the January 9, 2024, regular meeting minutes, approve and seal the January 9, 2024, Closed 

Session minutes for personnel and to approve and seal the January 9, 2024, Closed Session minutes for 

attorney-client privilege.  

 

b. To set a date for a public hearing on March 12, 2024, to receive public comment regarding the consideration 

of a local option occupancy tax.  

 

c. To set a date for a public hearing on March 12, 2024, to consider a contiguous annexation pursuant to 

General Statute 160A-31 for a tract of land totaling 16.19 acres. (AN2401) 

  

d. To approve a budget amendment to allocate $65,000 in received revenue, to the health insurance reserve 

account at the North Carolina Health Insurance Pool (NCHIP). 

 

e. To adopt a resolution to apply for funding from the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund to conduct field 

service investigations on service lines within the water distribution system due to the new Lead Service 

Line Rule.  
 

f. To approve the following road closures for the Graham Recreation Department Programs in Downtown 

Graham: 

• Slice of Summer: closure of the 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets and North and South Main Streets 

on Saturday, June 8, 2024, from 1 pm-9 pm.  Also request approval of the same road closures from 1 pm-

9 pm on Saturday, June 15, 2024, as an alternative date.  
 

• Pumpkin Bash: closure of the 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets on Friday, October 25, 2024, from 

2 pm to 10:30 pm and North and South Main Streets from 4 pm to 10:30 pm. 
   

• Thursdays at Seven Concert Series: closure of the 100 block of West Elm Street on May 23, June 27, 

July 25, August 22, September 12, and September 26 for the 2024 Thursdays at Seven Concert Series. All 

closures will begin at 5:00 pm and re-open by 11:30 pm. In the event a concert must be postponed, we also 

request the same closure as above on the following dates: May 30, June 6, 13, 20; July 11, 18; August 1, 8, 

15, 29; September 5, 19; October 3, 10, 17. 
 

• 9/11 Commemorative 5K Event: Closure of the northbound lane of Maple Street from Pine Street to 

McAden Street, McAden Street from South Main to Maple Street, the southbound lane of South Main 

Street from Pine Street to McAden Street, Pine Street from South Main to Maple Street from 6:00 a.m. – 

11:00 a.m. on Saturday, September 14, 2024. In the instance that the event date needs to be rescheduled, 

we also request the same closure as above for Saturday, September 7, 2024 

Page 1 of 65



2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

g. To approve an encroachment agreement provided by Alamance County for 106, 108, and 110 South Maple 

Street due to a 0.2-foot encroachment of the building onto Maple Street right-of-way. 

 

h. To approve a budget amendment to recognize $1,010 in insurance proceeds revenue and increase the Fire 

Department's Maintenance & Repair Equipment budget by $1,010 to replace a damaged fire hose. 

 

i. To approve the Conflict of Interest policy that would pertain to elected officials, appointed officials, and 

staff. 

 

j. To approve the tax collector’s Mid-Year report and to set March 14, 2024, as the date to advertise 

outstanding real and personal property taxes in the Alamance News. 

 

k. To approve tax releases totaling $2,624.90. 
 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

1. The City Council will consider approval of a resolution of intent to purchase a DuraPack Python 28-yard 

body mounted on a 2024 Peterbilt 520 chassis Sanitation truck to replace a 2010 Sanitation truck. 

 

2. The City Council will consider a connection to the City’s water system without annexation for property 

located at 1359 Terrywood Road, Haw River. 

 

3. The City Council will consider a Sponsorship Policy and Procedure for the Graham Recreation and Parks 

Department to establish guidelines for sponsors wishing to create a relationship with GRPD to sponsor 

events, projects, programs, and sites. 
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD  
 

 

CITY STAFF COMMENTS 
 

 

CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

 

CLOSED SESSION - City Council will consider going into closed session pursuant to the terms of N.C.G.S. 

143-318-11(a)(3) to consult with an attorney employed or retained by the public body in order to preserve the 

attorney-client privilege between the attorney and the public body, which privilege is hereby acknowledged 

regarding Cone Commercial Real Estate Investments, LLC vs City of Graham Alamance County Superior 

Court case number 23CvS1909.   
  

 

ADJOURN 

Page 2 of 65



1 
 

City of Graham  
City Council Meeting Minutes  
January 9, 2024 

 

 

 

The City Council of the City of Graham held a regularly scheduled meeting at 6:00 p.m. on January 9, 

2024, in the Council Chamber, City Hall Municipal Building located at 201 South Main Street, Graham, 

NC.  

 

Council Members Present:     Staff Present: 

Mayor Jennifer Talley      Megan Garner, City Manager  

Mayor Pro Tem Ricky Hall     Aaron Holland, Assistant City Manager 

Council Member Bobby Chin     Bryan Coleman, City Attorney 

Council Member Joey Parsons     Renee Ward, City Clerk - Absent 

Council Member Bonnie Whitaker     
 

         

CALL TO ORDER:  
 

Mayor Jennifer Talley called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and presided.  
 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

Council Member Chin gave the invocation and all stood for the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

a. To approve the December 12, 2023, Regular Meeting Minutes, December 18, 2023, Special 

Meeting-Budget Planning Session and to approve and seal the December 12, 2023, Closed Session 

meeting minutes.  
 

b. To approve tax releases totaling $200.23 and tax refunds totaling $362.10. 

 

 

Page 3 of 65



2 
 

 
 

c. To approve a resolution awarding a police badge and service side arm to Retired Police Officer 

Christopher T. Denny. 

 

RESOLUTION AWARDING POLICE BADGE AND 

SERVICE SIDE ARM TO 

POLICE OFFICER II CHRISTOPHER T. DENNY 

  

WHEREAS, Christopher T. Denny was an employee of the City of Graham as a member of the 

Graham Police Department for 19 years;  

  

WHEREAS, G.S. 20-187.2 permits the awarding of badges and service side arms of deceased or 

retiring members of State, City, and County Law Enforcement agencies.  

   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT BE RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 

CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA THAT: The City of Graham does hereby award 

the service side arm and badge to Christopher T. Denny for his many years of service to the City of 

Graham upon securing the necessary permit(s) according to G.S. 14-402 and receipt of one dollar 

($1.00). 

  

Adopted this the 9th day of January 2024. 

 

d. To approve a budget amendment for $25,909.83, from the City of Graham ARPA Fund Account to 

replace the first floor at the Police Department. Removed from the agenda. 

 

e. To approve the City of Graham Pay Plan revisions effective January 14, 2024, and to approve a 

Budget Amendment for $128,706.00, for departmental adjustments. 

 

 

 

Page 4 of 65



3 
 

 

 

Page 5 of 65



4 
 

 

 

City of Graham Pay Plan 

Job Title 
Recommended 

Grade Minimum Midpoint Maximum 

Sanitation Collector 11 $35,571.50  $44,464.38  $53,357.25  

       

General Maintenance Worker I Property Maintenance 12 $37,350.08  $46,687.60  $56,025.11  

General Maintenance Worker I Streets 12    

Police Traffic Enforcement Officer 12    

       

Field Operations Worker (entry-level) 13 $39,217.58  $49,021.97  $58,826.37  

       

Athletics Facilities Technician 14 $41,178.46  $51,473.07  $61,767.69  

Field Operations Equipment Technician 14    

Field Operations Tech I (Utility Maintenance Worker I) 14    

General Maintenance Worker II Property Maintenance 14    

General Maintenance Worker II Streets 14    

Parks Maintenance Technician 14    

Property Evidence Technician 14    

Page 6 of 65



5 
 

       

Athletics Facilities Technician II 15 $43,237.38  $54,046.73  $64,856.07  

Customer Service Representative 15    

Equipment Operator I Property Maintenance 15    

Equipment Operator I Streets 15    

Field Operations Equipment Operator I (Utility Equip Oper) 15    

Field Operations Tech II (Utility Maintenance Worker II) 15    

Fleet Service Technician 15    

Office Assistant 15    

Parks Maintenance Technician II 15    

Plant Maintenance Mechanic I 15    

Police Cadet 15    

Police Records Clerk 15    

Treatment Plant Technician 15    

Utility Billing Technician 15    

       

Athletics Facilities Technician III 16 $45,399.25  $56,749.06  $68,098.88  

Equipment Operator II Property Maintenance 16    

Equipment Operator II Streets 16    

General Maintenance Worker III Property Maintenance 16    

General Maintenance Worker III Streets 16    

Maintenance and Relief Treatment Plant Operator I 16    

Parks Maintenance Technician III 16    

Sanitation Collector/Equipment Operator 16    

Water Quality Technician I 16    

       

Equipment Operator III Property Maintenance 17 $47,669.21  $59,586.52  $71,503.82  

Equipment Operator III Street 17    

Field Operations Equipment Operator II (Utility Equip Oper) 17    

Field Operations Tech III (Utility Maintenance Worker III) 17    

Human Resource Assistant  17    

Laboratory Technician I 17    

Landscape Specialist 17    

Maintenance and Relief Operator II 17    

Plant Maintenance Mechanic II 17    

Police Administrative Assistant 17    

Public Works Assistant 17    

Senior Customer Service Representative 17    

Treatment Plant Operator I 17    

Water Quality Technician II 17    

       

Accounting Technician I (with payroll)  18 $50,052.67  $62,565.84  $75,079.01  

Crew Leader 18    

Fleet Technician 18    

Lake Warden 18    

Treatment Plant Operator II 18    

Page 7 of 65



6 
 

Water Quality Technician III 18    

Zoning & Inspection Technician 18    

       
Field Operations Equipment Operator III (Utility Equip 
Oper) 19 $52,555.31  $65,694.13  $78,832.96  

Fire Engineer (Fire Equipment Operator) 19    

Laboratory Technician II 19    

Maintenance Relief Operator III 19    

Parks & Athletic Facilities Maintenance Supervisor 19    

Plant Maintenance Mechanic III 19    

Police Officer I 19    

Public Works Assistant II 19    

Senior Accounting Technician 19    

Street Maintenance Supervisor 19    

Tax Collector 19    

Water Billing Supervisor 19    

Zoning & Inspection Technician II 19    

Zoning Enforcement Officer 19    

       

Recreation Center Supervisor 20 $55,183.07  $68,978.84  $82,774.61  

Recreation Marketing Supervisor 20    

Treatment Plant Operator III 20    

       

Athletic Supervisor 21 $57,942.23  $72,427.78  $86,913.34  

Code Enforcement Officer I 21    

Fire Master Engineer 21    

Laboratory Technician III 21    

Planner I 21    

Police Officer II 21    

Property Maintenance Supervisor 21    

Recreation Program Manager 21    

       

Fire Inspector 22 $60,839.34  $76,049.17  $91,259.01  

Fire Lieutenant 22    

Network/PC Technician 22    

Pretreatment Coordinator 22    

Sanitation Supervisor 22    

       

City Clerk 23 $63,881.31  $79,851.63  $95,821.96  

Code Enforcement Officer II 23    

Fleet Superintendent 23    

Planner II 23    

Police Sergeant 23    

       
Field Operations Supervisor (Distribution & Collections 
Supervisor) 24 $67,075.37  $83,844.21  $100,613.06  

Page 8 of 65



7 
 

 

 

Motion by Council Member Whitaker to approve consent agenda items a, b, c, and e, seconded by Mayor 

Pro Tem Hall.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 

 

Laboratory Supervisor 24    

Plant Maintenance Supervisor 24    

Plant Operations Supervisor 24    

Property Maintenance Superintendent 24    

Street Superintendent 24    

       

Code Enforcement Officer III 25 $70,429.14  $88,036.42  $105,643.71  

Environmental & Lab Services Superintendent 25    

Fire Captain 25    

Police Lieutenant 25    

       

  26 $73,950.60  $92,438.24  $110,925.89  

       

Field Operations Superintendent 27 $77,648.13  $97,060.16  $116,472.19  

Police Captain 27    

Wastewater Plant Superintendent 27    

Water Plant Superintendent 27    

       

Field Operations Manager/Assistant Utilities Director 28 $81,530.53  $101,913.16  $122,295.80  

       

Assistant Police Chief 29 $85,607.06  $107,008.82  $128,410.59  

Utilities Compliance Manager/Deputy Utilities Director 29    

       

Director of Human Resources/Risk Management 30 $89,887.41  $112,359.26  $134,831.12  

Recreation & Parks Director 30    

     

IT Director 31 $94,381.78  $117,977.23  $141,572.67  

       

Inspections Director 32 $99,100.87  $123,876.09  $148,651.31  

       

Fire Chief 33 $104,055.91  $130,069.89  $156,083.87  

Public Works Director 33    

       

Finance Director 34 $109,258.71  $136,573.39  $163,888.07  

Police Chief 34    

Utilities Director 34    

       

Assistant City Manager 39 $139,444.88  $174,306.10  $209,167.32  

     

Mayor  $771.86/month  
Council Member  $473.84/month  

Page 9 of 65



8 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

ITEM 1: REZONING – 53.904 ACRES – NEAR MAYFIELD DRIVE 
 

A public hearing was continued to consider rezoning 53.904 acres from R-18 (Low-Density Residential) 

to C-R (Conditional Residential) to extend the Fourth Phase of Rogers Springs to construct an additional 

85 single-family homes, located near Mayfield Drive.  

(Planning Board recommended approval - 7-0)  

(Continued from the December 12, 2023, City Council Meeting) 
 

Assistant City Manager Aaron Holland stated this item was before Council last month and continued to 

this month’s meeting with the applicant looking to update the plan based on Council comments to show at 

least 70-foot lot widths.  He stated that staff did take it to TRC for preliminary discussions and there was 

nothing to prevent the petitioner from widening the lots to 70 feet. He stated the petitioner was here to 

speak on the rezoning. 

 

The public hearing was opened and the following spoke: 

 

Mr. Jason Ewing from Shugart Homes, 221 Jones Town Road, Winston-Salem, NC, stated the revised site 

plan was available and asked if the Council had any questions. 

 

Mayor Talley asked Mr. Ewing to review the changes that were made from the last Council meeting. 

 

Mr. Ewing stated the lots had all been widened to a minimum of 70 feet per the conversation with Council 

in December which, provided a deeper gap between the building footprints.  He stated there were some 

lots, based on the geometry of the connecting streets, that ended up being wider than 70 feet.  

 

Mayor Talley asked if the project went from 92 homes to 85 homes. 

 

Mr. Ewing stated that the original request was 92 homes in Phase Four and widening the lots to 70 feet 

reduced the density by 7 homes. 

 

Mayor Talley inquired about setbacks and asked if the petitioner would be agreeable to 15-foot setbacks. 

 

Mr. Ewing stated he was okay with making the site setback larger and usually liked an additional foot just 

for surveying and asked if 12 feet would work for the Council. 

 

Mayor Talley stated she would agree to 12 feet and asked if the Council was agreeable. 

 

Mr. Ewing and Council agreed to 12 feet setbacks.  

 

Mr. Chris Foust, 4990 Hwy 62 South, spoke in favor of the rezoning but shared that the Council was 

making it difficult for developers to develop when you no longer want R-9, only R-12 and R-18, especially 

when you have only difficult sites in town that are left for development. He asked the Council to not frown 

on development because of density. He shared those residents in these housing developments will shop and 

eat in Graham.  

 

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Hall to close the public hearing, seconded by Council Member Parsons. The 

motion passed unanimously. 

Page 10 of 65



9 
 

 

Motion by Council Member Whitaker to approve the rezoning of 53.904 acres located off Mayfield Drive 

from R-18, Low-Density Residential to C-R, Conditional Residential, and that it does further the Graham 

2035 Comprehensive Plan and the City of Graham Development Ordinance and it is consistent with Policy 

5.1.1 and 3.3.2, and Strategy 4.3.1 per the Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and with the condition that 

all lots meet the 9,000 square foot requirement, each lot to have at least a 70-foot wide lot width, the active 

open space incorporated as recreational use such as a dog park, gazebo, playground, etc., to install fencing 

around the active open space area if appropriate, and a minimum of 12-foot setbacks, seconded by Mayor 

Pro Tem Hall. The motion passed unanimously.    
 

 

ITEM 2: ANNEXATION – 53.904 ACRES – NEAR MAYFIELD DRIVE - AN2307  
 

A public hearing was continued to consider an Annexation Ordinance to extend the corporate limits to the City 

of Graham for a tract of land totaling 53.904 located near Mayfield Drive. 

(Continued from the December 12, 2023, City Council Meeting) 
 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated the attached petition is a request for the Council’s approval for an 

extension of the corporate limits to include the subject properties. The area being considered for annexation 

is located off of Mayfield Drive and contains approximately 53.90 +- acres total. Water and sewer are 

located adjacent to this property within the Mayfield Drive right of way, and the applicants wish to tie onto 

the City’s infrastructure.  He stated new residential property generally creates positive tax revenue for the 

City, and because the public services are being connected at this site, the cost to the City is minimal. 

 

The public hearing was opened and there were no comments. 

 

Motion by Council Member Chin to close the public hearing, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall. The 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Hall to approve the annexation ordinance to extend the corporate limits to the 

City of Graham for a tract of land totaling 53.904 located near Mayfield Drive, seconded by Council 

Member Whitaker. The motion passed unanimously. 
 

 

ANNEXATION ORDINANCE 

TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE 

CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA 

FOR A 53.904-ACRE TRACT OF LAND OFF OF MAYFIELD DRIVE (AN2308) 

 

WHEREAS,  the Graham City Council has been petitioned under G.S. 160A-31 to annex the area 

described below; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Graham City Council has by resolution directed the City Clerk to investigate the 

sufficiency of the petition; and 
 

WHEREAS,  the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and public hearing on the 

questions of this annexation was held at City Hall, 201 S Main Street, Graham at 6:00 P.M. on January 

9, 2024, after due notice by publication November 30, 2023; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Graham City Council finds that the petition meets the requirement of G.S. 160A-31. 

Page 11 of 65



10 
 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDINATED by the City Council of the City of Graham, North 

Carolina that:  
 

Section 1. By virtue of the authority granted by G.S. 160A-31, the following described territory is 

hereby annexed and made part of the City of Graham as of January 9, 2024: 
 

Legal Description GPIN#: 8882178503 
  

BEGINNING AT AN IRON PIPE FOUND LOCATED AT THE MOST SOUTH-EASTERLY CORNER OF THE PARCEL 
DESCRIBED HEREON, BEING THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING, AND HAVING THE FOLLOWING NORTH CAROLINA 
STATE PLANE COORDINATES:  
NC NAD 83  
N:82751.037  
E:1882308.671  
 

THENCE FOLLOWING TWENTY (20) COURSES:  
 

1. SOUTH 66 DEGREES 09 MINUTES 09 SECONDS WEST FOR 433.73 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE FOUND; THENCE  
2. SOUTH 65 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 09 SECONDS WEST FOR 29.97 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR SET; THENCE  
3. NORTH 40 DEGREES 24 MINUTES 03 SECONDS WEST FOR 91.81 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR SET; THENCE  
4. NORTH 83 DEGREES 47 MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST FOR 107.81 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR SET; THENCE  
5. SOUTH 70 DEGREES 33 MINUTES 04 SECONDS WEST FOR 162.59 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR SET; THENCE  
6. SOUTH 57 DEGREES 50 MINNUTES 40 SECONDS WEST FOR 524.65 FEET TO AN IRON REBAT SET; THENCE  
7. SOUTH 40 DEGREES 20 MINUTES 32 SECONDS WEST FOR 281.27 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR SET; THENCE  
8. SOUTH 33 DEGREES 24 MINUTES 21 SECONDS WEST FOR 183.51 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR SET; THENCE  
9. NORTH 39 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 49 SECONDS WEST FOR 9.69 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR FOUND; THENCE  
10. NORTH 39 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 35 SECONDS WEST FOR 199.75 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR FOUND; THENCE  
11. NORTH 10 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 17 SECONDS WEST FOR 1838.54 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE FOUND; THENCE  
12. SOUTH 88 DEGREES 53 MINUTES 02 SECONDS EAST FOR 131.73 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE FOUND; THENCE  
13. SOUTH 01 DEGREES 41 MINUTES 25 SECONDS WEST FOR 131.72 FEET TO A STONE MONUMENT FOUND; 
THENCE  
14. SOUTH 89 DEGREES 23 MINUTES 52 SECONDS EAST FOR 626.58 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE FOUND; THENCE  
15. SOUTH 89 DEGREES 31 MINUTES 11 SECONDS EAST FOR 393.59 FEET TO AN IRON REBA SET; THENCE  
16. SOUTH 89 DEGREES 34 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST FOR 300.27 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR SET; THENCE  
17. SOUTH 89 DEGREES 35 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST FOR 199.76 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR SET; THENCE  
18. SOUTH 89 DEGREES 31 MINUTES 09 SECONDS EAST FOR 115.39 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE FOUND; THENCE  
19. SOUTH 17 DEGREES 02 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST FOR 714.51 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE FOUND; THENCE  
20. SOUTH 04 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 07 SECONDS WEST FOR 330.98 FEET TO SAID POINT OF BEGINNING.  
 

SAID PARCEL CONTAINING 2,348,038 SQUARE FEET OR 53.90 ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR LESS. 
 

Adopted this, the 9th day of January 2024. 
 

 

ITEM 3: SPECIAL USE PERMIT – 616 HOLLOW STREET – GROUP HOME 
 

A public hearing was continued to consider a Special Use Permit for a group home for property located at 

616 Hollow Street.   

(Continued from the December 12, 2023, City Council Meeting) 

 

 

Page 12 of 65



11 
 

Due to this item being a quasi-judicial hearing, the following minutes will reflect all statements and 

conversations verbatim. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland: This is a request for a Special Use Permit for a Group Home for 

property located at 616 Hollow Street. There is an existing single-family dwelling on the site. Under the 

current Development Ordinance, a Group Home is a facility with support and supervisory personnel that 

provides room and board, personal care, or habilitation services in a residential environment for not more 

than six people. Granting this Special Use Permit would permit up to six unrelated individuals to reside 

within the unit. The Planning Board reviewed the application and forwarded the item to the Council without 

a recommendation.  The Attorney will need to read the statement relating to the special use process and 

swear in any individuals who may wish to speak.  This is a Special Use request; the applicant must prove 

to meet the following six Findings of Fact: 

 

1. All applicable regulations of the zoning district in which the use is proposed are complied with. 

 

2. Conditions specific to each use, identified by the Development Ordinance, are complied with. 

 

3. The use will not materially endanger the public health or safety if located where proposed and 

developed according to the plan as submitted. 

 

4. The use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining property or that the use is a public 

necessity. 

 

5. The location and character of the use if developed according to the plan as submitted will be in 

harmony with the area in which it is to be located and in general conformity with the plan of 

development for the Graham planning area. 

 

6. Satisfactory provision has been made for the following, when applicable: vehicle circulation, parking 

and loading, service entrances and areas, screening, utilities, signs and lighting, and open space. 

 

Mayor Talley:  This is a public hearing for those witnesses who have taken the oath if you are wishing to 

testify in this matter, I need you to come forward and raise your right hand and put your hand on the Bible, 

right? 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland:  So, the attorneys have to read the statement first and then we can swear 

in the individuals. 

 

Mayor Talley:  Oh, okay. 

 

City Attorney Bryan Coleman:  This hearing is a quasi-judicial evidentiary hearing. That means it's like 

a court hearing. State law sets specific procedures and rules concerning how this board must make its 

decisions. These rules are different from other types of land use decisions like rezoning cases. The Council's 

discretion is limited. The Council must base its decision upon competent material and substantial evidence 

in the record. It is the decision that must be based on the standards and the ordinance and based on the facts 

presented. If you will be speaking as a witness, please focus on the facts and standards, not personal 

preference or opinion. This meeting is open to the public. However, participation is limited. Parties 

withstanding, have the right to present evidence, call witnesses, and make legal arguments. Parties are 

limited to the applicant, the local government, and individuals who can show they will suffer special 

damages. Other individuals may serve as witnesses when called by the City Council. General witness 

Page 13 of 65



12 
 

testimony is limited to facts. No opinions. For certain topics, this Council needs to hear opinions and 

testimony from expert witnesses. These topics include predictions about impacts on property values and 

predictions about impacts on increased traffic. Individuals providing expert opinions must be qualified as 

experts and provide the factual evidence upon which they base their expert opinions. Note that any miscible 

evidence is deemed to be objected to. Any documentary evidence that is certified or from a recognized 

professional source with authentication will be admitted. Witnesses must swear or affirm their testimony. 

So, at this time, anyone who wants to testify or be a witness to please come forward and take the oath.   

 

Attorney Colman administered the oath to Ms. Linda Montgomery and Assistant City Manager Aaron 

Holland.  

 

Linda Montgomery: Hello, good evening, my name is Linda Montgomery, and my address is 2076 

Jefferies Cross Road, Burlington.  I’m here tonight to petition the court for this special use permit for a 

group home. As you said, it can go up to six residents, I am only going to house four.  As I was telling the 

previous meeting, no you all the step before, there are two staff members at all times. So, there would be a 

staff member to two kids, supervision at all times, and none of the residents are ever permitted to leave the 

premises, even to go outside by themselves.  It’s high supervision.  Some of these kids do have behavior 

problems but that’s why I limited it to two to one ratio.  I know that security was a question at the meeting 

I was at before, and we plan on having the whole package, the cameras, and alarms on windows and doors. 

Staff will have a handheld device at all times that will make a noise if the kids try to open a window or go 

outside.  Kitchen utensils, knives, and anything sharp is locked up in another room, in a staff room where 

the kids cannot get hold of it.  We have restraint training in place for mental health and IDD. De-escalation 

training plus incentives to make it favorable for the kids to stay and not try to run.  They have some, group 

homes have a history of kids running that’s why I limited it to four children for this particular home. I’m 

trying to produce and provide a therapeutic environment for these kids.  Some of them are taken out of the 

home, not on their own doing. It could be from their parents.  There is an intense screening process too. I 

do not plan on taking the worst of the worst. I’m looking to take ones that are looking to improve and that 

are willing to take the classes.  We are going to offer classes not offered in traditional schooling, like credit 

classes, how to keep a bank account, and what you are to expect when you age out. A lot of these kids age 

out and go into homelessness. They have nowhere to go after that and quite frankly a lot of these group 

homes don’t teach them life skills, they don’t know anything when they come out. They don’t know 

anything about a budget, financial aid, or school, they don’t have anyone to guide them. So, with the 

therapeutic atmosphere that is going to be counseling, I’m trying to work out with a Counselor now to 

come to the house so that transportation does not have to be provided. But all transportation will be 

provided by staff. If I could work it out where they can come into the house, that limits missing school and 

being absent from things they need to be in.   

 

I am currently in the process of getting a program started with Burlington Christian Academy now to put 

these kids in a different environment, a more structured, smaller classroom, with more one-to-one working 

with them.  My Son graduated from BCA so I know they have a very good track record with some of the 

less fortunate kids.  It is expensive to go there, so I trying to start some type of program so the children can 

go through DSS, that they will have an opportunity for a scholarship plus maybe some type of financial aid 

program that they will work with me or DSS to get these kids into that program.  

 

There was a question I had about the property devaluation or if it's going to improve property value.  When 

it is up and running, right now the property is completely fenced in.  There may be one panel that’s down 

because they had to do some work on the side of the house and I’m not sure if that is up yet.  But, as I get 

up and running I do plan on making upgrades to the landscaping of the area.  Right now, it is not the 

prettiest but I do plan on replacing the entire fencing in the yard. There is nothing wrong with it now it’s 

Page 14 of 65



13 
 

just a little bit older from where, you know, wear and tear, so I do want to improve the fencing area around 

there.  I’ve been looking into . . . there is a stone wall I’m going to get replaced, and maybe possibly paving 

the driveway.  

 

The kids that will be there may be of driving age, but because of the environment they are in they will be 

placed by DSS and it’s a level three group home, they are not permitted to drive. So, the parking is only 

for staff and there will be two at all times. So, two cars maybe three at the most, if I’m there during a shift 

or what have you. There is also room to park in the back of the house.  You can open one of the gates and 

go up to the back where it is easier to access if you like a . . . where I had lived there previously, that’s 

what we did to get me up into the house.  

 

I was hoping, some of the neighbors that were supporting me were going to be here tonight but they are 

not.  I guess when talking to some of the neighbors, their main concern was safety.  Questions were asked 

if I have insurance.  I have extensive insurance. I’ll be paying $1100 to $1500 a month for insurance in the 

event something does happen but with my small numbers and staff training, I do not anticipate that 

happening.  I plan on starting the jobs at a fairly decent wage, I haven’t quite figured out to the number yet 

but I’m trying to attract people who want to work and I need quality workers for these kids, not somebody 

who is just coming in. So, the training is going to be extensive, the application process will have to do a 

background checks as well as the kids. I do background checks on kids with DSS.  I ask them the nitty 

gritty, I don’t turn kids away because of a bad behavior, I look more at whether or not they are open to 

change.  You have to meet these kids, you have to engage with them. So, it is not so much as if they call 

me up and say hey, I got a kid, I’m taking them. No, there is a screening process. So, the neighbors were 

concerned about the worst of the worst.  I do not plan on taking the worst of the worst. Procedures are . . . 

if it happens that they do not work out at the house, they will be given a 30-day notice and they will be 

transferred. If the behavior is severe enough from just where I have worked, I’ve seen them take them out 

in as little as 72 hours.  There is not a security risk for the neighborhood. Quite honestly, I feel that being 

in a neighborhood would be much more beneficial for these kids. They need a family atmosphere almost. 

Sometimes they just need someone to listen to them and care.  So, that’s what we are trying to provide is a 

family atmosphere for these kids, but with the realization of what they are to expect.  I have articles here 

that show there are upwards to a little over 11,000 children in foster care right now with hardly any foster 

care homes to put these children in.  They are staying the nights in prisons, in emergency rooms, on DSS 

couches, and at any given time there are 50 kids at a time staying in these unfavorable places.  A lot of 

times they are locked into a room and cannot have access to the outside, they are confined to a room kind 

of like solitary confinement.  When they end up sleeping at DSS offices it requires two workers to take 

care of these kids.  So, its causing strain on the workers, there are having to get to paid to do this, I’m just 

trying to offer an outlet, a positive outlet, and a therapeutic outlet for these kids and not exclude them to 

these institutions and try to show them there is better than the path they are currently on. 

 

I must apologize, with the storm, I had packets together and salvaged what I could.  We had a little accident 

so I was not able to have one for everybody, so I apologize for that.  

 

I apologize for the pictures as well; the house is not put together.  We kind of started to slow down with 

trying to do things because I was getting ahead of myself and I did not realize the extent of the process to 

open it. So, I had started getting stuff for the group home and stuff, so we had thrown it in there, and due 

to my little debacle coming out of the house I grabbed old packets, these are the house but the pictures are 

quite a mess, and I apologize.  

 

Mayor Talley:  This isn’t foster care, right? 

 

Page 15 of 65



14 
 

Ms. Montgomery:  No, it’s a group home, so there will be five referrals through DSS mainly for placement.  

 

Mayor Talley:  And you said your insurance is between $1100 and $1500 a month? 

 

Ms. Montgomery: Yes, mam. 

 

Mayor Talley: Have you ever had a group home before? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  No, I’ve worked at them, I’ve never owned one. But, I have worked at them since I’ve 

been, let’s see, since I was 20 years old. I’m 42, it’s been 23 years. I’ve worked at behavioral homes starting 

in Rhode Island. Mainly these kids were kids straight from the Juvenile Justice Center and placed in step 

down before they went home. That involved sexual abuse (inaudible) and behavioral (inaudible) 

themselves.  Down here I was mainly focused on family care homes with the elderly but I did work with 

some of the IDD population focusing mostly on down syndrome. I do have custody of a brother with Down 

Syndrome so we do a lot of programs with him and I volunteer a lot of times with them.  Being down here 

I worked with quite a few kids that are in the system right now. I work closely with DSS trying to do things 

I can to help better the kids. I currently have, actually family members in the system so at her group home 

I have a lot of experience of going in there and volunteering with the girls and helping out with them. So I 

have kind of a behavioral background but no I have not ever owned one.   

 

Mayor Talley:  So, you the one here, you haven’t owned a group or worked in a group home that’s got 

level three offenders, is that right? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  No, in Rhode Island I did, it just hasn’t been here in North Carolina. I was in medication 

aid for a group home in Providence Rhode Island it was for a teen-based firm 12 to 17 years old and there 

were three separate houses.  

 

Mayor Talley:  And what level were they? 

 

Ms. Montgomery: They were level three. There was constant supervision, well up there it was based on 

letters, not numbers. But, it would equate to a level three. It was constant 24-hour supervision staff at all 

times and two staff (inaudible). 

 

Council Member Whitaker:  Are you currently licensed in North Carolina?  

 

Ms. Montgomery: Well, I have started the licenser process but through advice talking to some of the 

people (inaudible) they advised me that maybe I should go through this process first and then, I’m not 

projected to open anytime soon.  It would be within the next couple of months because it does take, after 

speaking to the people about insurance it does take a month to a month and a half, sometimes two months 

to get the insurance because it's so extensive of what I do need for it to cover everything.  And, the fees 

associated with licenser, I can go ahead and get the licenser all day but if I can’t get the approval, I’m kind 

of dead in the water.  So, I was a little stuck about what I should do with that. I did not know if I should go 

ahead and apply, but then if I’m denied, I just halted my brakes a little bit. 

 

Mayor Talley:  I’m kind of confused because I thought there was a moratorium on the group homes right 

now. Did you have to get permission from, I thought, Aaron, I was trying to look in the report. It was on 

the first home when it was on in December.  What’s the name of the organization? 

 

Ms. Montgomery: That would be . . . my organization? 

Page 16 of 65



15 
 

 

Mayor Talley:  No, it was listed on the paperwork from December’s meeting. They are out of Charlotte, 

aren’t they?  Aren’t they the ones that approved that agency that approves group homes? 

 

Ms. Montgomery: That would be through, (inaudible) I do have a letter of recommendation, I hope to God 

that . . . they have sent me a letter of recommendation, so I do have their support. I apologize, I’m so 

embarrassed, I cannot believe that this happened.  Unfortunately, I do not have a hard copy of the letter of 

recommendation, oh yes, I do.  (She hands the Council a copy of the letter.) 

 

Mayor Talley:  Are you currently renting that location at 616 . . .? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  At that location, it’s a family location, technically my mother-in-law owns the location 

but she had allowed me to take it over if I’m allowed to open the group home.  I’ve been managing the 

family care home for the past five years and I’m pretty confident it's just a change in paperwork basically.   

 

Council Member Whitaker:  You said you were going to have four kids, is that what you said? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  Yes. 

 

Council Member Whitaker: And what ages would they be roughly? 

 

Ms. Montgomery: Generally, the ages for a group home tend to be older children, but I’ve seen them from 

about nine to usually 16, or 17, depending on the child.  It does depend on the referrals when they come in 

but I naturally can’t room, once I get an age group in there, that’s the age I will try to stay with because I 

can’t room certain ages with other ages and certain backgrounds with behavioral reports. They may have 

to a single room versus a shared room.  There’s only one room that would be shared the other two would 

be single rooms.  But, I could only have three depending on what the history is with the child and whether 

they could room or not. So, then that would be two staff for three children.  

 

Council Member Whitaker:  I understand. 

 

Mayor Talley:  So, since this letter is a letter of support for facilities to be located in this area, but it says 

it is not an endorsement for it to be interpreted as any guarantee of contact, referrals, business, or occupancy 

of beds.  So, is that saying that they, VIA Health our of Asheville, are they the ones that actually have the 

licenses from the State? 

 

Ms. Montgomery: Well I have to file with the State as well with VIA. So, I have to adhere to the rules and 

regulations for both entities. So, once I get the licenser from the State, VIA will accredit me as a (inaudible) 

group home. 

 

Mayor Talley: Is that a guarantee? 

 

Ms. Montgomery: Well, when I talked to the head lady there that deals with licensing of group homes, 

from what I understand, if they give me a letter of support that they deem there is a need for the group 

home.  Some of the kids not having placement, I got that letter within a day.  And then I just have to go 

through the pretty much paperwork process, but with the fees associated, again, I kind of, after talking to 

her, she was like it might be a good idea to get the okay before we go ahead and jump the gun and do all 

of this and then I have all this stuff and can’t do anything with it.  

 

Page 17 of 65



16 
 

Mayor Talley:  And you are saying you would have two, you would be having to pay for two people per 

child? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  Yes, two employees, there has to be two staff members on at all times.  

 

Mayor Talley: For all four children? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  Yes. 

 

Mayor Talley:  okay, so it’s not two per child though, right? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  No, no mam, I meant two children per one staff. 

 

Mayor Talley:  Okay, and then, are some of the, would all these children be from Alamance County that 

currently live in Alamance County or are they being brought in from other counties? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  Well that’s the issue here.  Alamance County does not have very many placements.  I 

have a niece and two nephews that were from Alamance County and they have had to be placed in separate 

counties all over the state because of lack of placement.  Sometimes, depending on the child and the issue 

whether it’s a risk of a parent wanting to find the child or the child wanting to run they do like to place 

them in other counties so there is nowhere to run and there is no incentive like I can run two blocks over 

and go to so and so’s house.  So, it really depends on the child, the referral that I get, that’s what the intake 

packet would be that would include, it’s going to be, I would need to know details before I take these kids.  

I’m not trying to cause my staff grief, the neighborhood grief, I don’t want to be sticking out like a sore 

thumb. The purpose is therapeutic and that’s what I intend. So, if the child has to fit, if you will, and be 

able to be a suitable fit for the house, for the safety of the staff, the safety of the children, and just smooth 

running of the business in general.  

 

Mayor Talley:  So, level three what kind of crimes would be associated with like, if you could explain for 

the Council the difference between level 1, level 2, and level 3? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  Well, level one, I believe level one was defined as non-traditional foster placement, 

level two was therapeutic foster placement, and level three was group home.  For example, I have a niece 

in level three, what ended her there was runaways, she was posting inappropriate pictures online, stealing, 

and things of that nature.  Not going to school and her mother not taking a proactive approach to stop these 

behaviors.  Anything that is scheduled level four would not be an option, that is psychiatric, that’s lock-up. 

So, the children I would be working with, come can have behaviors and some just come from a 

circumstance of their environment.  Like, I have another nephew, her brother who is in a level, well it’s a 

foster home.  Had he been in a group home, it would have been a level three.  But it's therapeutic placement 

but he’s there just because of the trauma endured from the other three in the house. So, he’s in a placement 

you know, not doing, for his own doing.  So, it varies, it really does, but I’m really trying to make sure I 

do a screening process so I get kids that I can be effective with.  I’m not trying to open this up as a mom-

and-pop shop and just do whatever, no, being in the system with these kids and working with them and 

volunteering, I see the voids, I see what they are missing.  The lack of just basic needs sometimes.  One of 

those articles I just sent around, I mean one of the kids had to be in lockup and there were like black worms 

swimming in the toilet. He was in the jail and happened to be locked up and he’s being in there 23 hours a 

day it’s just, the mental strain that causes these kids to have to be in emergency rooms and the lockup unit 

most of the time so they can’t leave.  But, they don’t have staff trained to sit there and watch these kids.  

The ones that are there to watch people are psychiatric patients. These kids are not there for that so they 

Page 18 of 65



17 
 

are often put off into a separate lockup unit at the hospital and just left there. And, some have been there 

for to 50 nights.  So, if I can provide a place, a placement, I know it's minimal, I mean it will only be four 

children, but it's four children not staying in jail cells or not staying in emergency rooms or on DSS couches.  

 

The trailers that they have. I don’t know if you guys have seen them, it's just, I’m trying to do something 

good and try to bring them in and if I can make a difference, at least a couple of kids, that’s what I’m 

striving for. These kids are going to age out at 18 and they are going to be wandering our streets.  

 

Mayor Talley:  I commend you for what you are trying to do, I think what I have seen in the past though 

is that when they have put group homes in, it is usually away from highly dense populations like more out 

in the County so that they can’t run away easily because its miles and miles away from the next house. It’s 

definitely not in the area that is urban. They can’t get on a bus, they can’t hitch a ride with somebody in a 

car that is passing by, that kind of thing.  I just question why you would pick an urban area versus an area 

out kind of secluded I guess. 

 

Ms. Montgomery: Well, I guess I don’t see as a barrier being in a high-density neighborhood, actually, I 

think what helped sway me at the last meeting was one of the board members growing up in foster care, so 

it made a difference to him, he’s on the planning board.  So, growing up in a neighborhood, for him, he 

voiced that there was no objection to it because there was nothing wrong with it.  These kids need to be 

shown that they can succeed and that they can come out of their circumstances. If you just throw them to 

the wolves or whatever, you know, they are going to survive on their own. So, that’s why I don’t see a 

difference whether it be county or the urban area because supervision will be so high. At the group home 

that I have worked at the kids actually get quite mad at us because we are in their business so much there 

is not much that we miss. When they come in they get temp check, they are patted down, bags are emptied, 

they are searched, you know, safety is the number one priority.  And then we are going to (inaudible) and 

we are going to try to get them to a place where they can be productive.  So, I don’t see where there is a 

difference whether it be urban, quite frankly, urban brings everything closer, community centers, YMCA.  

I’m a big sports fan, my kids are all in sports, and one is in the band. I push for those things and that’s what 

I’m going to be pushing for the group.  If my kids do it, these kids will do it.  So, I’m trying to enrich their 

lives and try to make a difference.  I mean whether it is in the County or the urban area, I mean, I have a 

farm out in the County, farm animals, and they can come out there and enjoy the farm animals too, so they 

get a little bit of both experiences.  I just never felt like it was that much of a big deal. 

 

Mayor Talley: How many staff members are you looking to have? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  I have four so far and depending on how many kids I start off with, I mean, it is going 

to be slow, I’m not going to have like a whole houseful.  I mean I could but it's only three kids, three to 

four.  So, if I need to expand, I do have options for people to do that, they just have not gone through the 

training process yet.  

 

Mayor Talley: But, they would have to be there 24 hours a day, so that would be a minimum of eight 

people if you are going to have two per . . . 

 

Council Member Whitaker:  12-hour shifts. 

 

Mayor Talley: You can only work, I mean are you doing more than 40 hours a week? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  If I have to at first, then I will. That’s not an issue for us.  I did not think about how 

many people that I should have trained at first but given that I’m not going to be opening for at least another 

Page 19 of 65



18 
 

two months that does give me time and I do have three other people who are interested that I have run 

background checks on.  I just kind of stopped and right after Thanksgiving things got halted.  We had 

COVID at Christmas and I did not get to go ahead and continue with some of the training.  The holidays 

came and it was just a big mess and now we are getting back on track to making sure I can get the training 

in place so if I need more employees I can go ahead and get them trained. 

 

Mayor Talley:  The complaints I hear from people who work at group homes have been that they are 

supposed to be relieved from their shift and no one comes in to relieve them, what is your protocol for 

handling situations where employees are sick or they don’t come into work, they don’t report to work, what 

is your protocol? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  Well, I guess, considering I’m on call 24/7 besides my husband, we will switch off 

and I guess I would technically have six employees at this time if you count us two. So, I am planning on 

having, I have, we will have phones just for the business and I will be on call 24/7 as well as my husband 

if it is not me, it will be him. So, we will cover anything that needs to be covered in that instance. 

 

Council Member Whitaker:  I had a question about the property values in the neighborhood that you had 

mentioned that it would not negatively affect property values, what types of, do you have any type of 

corroboration for that in terms of any studies that have been done or anything like that? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:   I don’t know of any studies that would be done, I was just going based on we are 

getting estimates on a stone wall that needs to be replaced.  The front area does not look that pretty, I’m 

trying to spruce the area up with a different landscape.  Maybe possibly paving the driveway.  Right now, 

it’s gravel on like dirt . . . there is plenty of parking but I’m trying to make it look a little bit better, plus 

with the fencing the newer look right now it has been there since, Lord knows way before we had the 

property. So, it is looking a little outdated. I want to update everything and I want to eventually, we are 

looking into trying to get the back area just flattened out a little bit because when you do go to park it is a 

little bit of an incline. But, small cars and even trucks can get up there, but I’m just trying to make it look 

better and more appeasing. There is a cement pad in the backyard for a basketball court for the kids. So, 

with all that being in a contained area, I’m just upgrading the house, making it look better.  We currently 

put up, on the front porch, railings and it's all wooded in now and trying to update the appearance. 

 

Council Member Whitaker:  We appreciate that you are trying to upgrade the property but my concern 

is, like you said, not so much the way it looks even, but with the stigma of having a group home in a 

neighborhood like that. I was hoping you would have some kind of professional study or something you 

could show us that would show us there would be no devaluation of the properties or that other group 

homes have not caused a devaluation of a property, or surrounding properties.  Because you know there 

are some people who don’t want to buy a home in an area if they know that there is a group home there. 

That’s kind of what I was looking for. I know that you intend to keep the property up and you are going to 

do things to improve it, but my concern is for the surrounding properties and what it might do to their resale 

value and things like that.  Does that make sense? 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  It does, but being like a group home, I don’t plan on advertising out in the front yard 

like “Hey, this is a group home.” There are privacy issues with the kids.  You know HIPPA, even the 

parents can’t know where they are at. The only person that knows where they are is DSS. They can’t have 

electronics so there is no outside communication, like hey, I’m here, come get me. So, with the 

improvements and the supervision, they can’t be outside without staff. So, you know damage to other 

people, I don’t, I really feel it’s highly unlikely. But, I don’t have any studies, professionally. I did not even 

think about it.  

Page 20 of 65



19 
 

 

Mayor Talley: When you are applying for a special use permit one of the things in applying is providing 

expert testimony either from an appraiser or somebody that has expert knowledge in things to be able to 

provide that kind of documentation.  

 

Council Member Parsons:  That’s item number four under the six conditions that you are required to 

meet. 

 

Mayor Talley:  Have you in working in the group homes, have you had situations in which you have had 

to call law enforcement? 

 

Ms. Montgomery: We did call, we had one incident where we called because the child was starting to 

harm themselves. Once they go to the point where they threaten to, suicide or try to physically harm another 

person, then we have to call for hospital evaluation. That’s the main thing. The group homes that I worked 

at we did come up with incentive programs.  Now, kids, I’m going to leave, I’m going to leave. But when 

you talk to them with de-escalation tactics, we have incentives for them there. A lot of group homes don’t 

allow then tv or gaming systems. These are things you have to work for, for points.  So, a lot of times the 

kids, when you see that you care and you are there for them and they have things awarded to them that they 

didn’t have before and it’s a more comfortable environment you don’t have to deal with runners.  They 

have been in the system, 9 times out of 10, and they know where they are coming from and they have 

already been in a better place. That’s why I’m trying, maybe an upgrade to the group home scene, I guess 

you could say.  It had a very successful outcome.  I have to say. I know one kid that threatened to leave but 

I don’t know of any runaways. You know, based on how the program was run.  Will I not have any, I can’t 

say.  

 

Mayor Talley:  Is there anybody else here to testify in regard to this special use permit?  Any other Council 

Members have any questions?  

 

Council Member Chin:  I’m concerned that you think through your staffing plan to ensure that you have, 

because it's 24/7. And so . . . 

 

Ms. Montgomery:  I’m sorry, I don’t think I made this clear. There are other programs within the DSS 

system that we can take advantage of, which would be Community Navigator, the Say So Program, and 

Links. Some of these programs offer assistance to these kids, they come and get them, and do mentorships.  

So, it is not so much as them going to be at the house all the time, you know, of course, I would have to 

vamp up my employees.  But, I apologize, I’m just all over the place.  But, when they come home from 

school we have therapy, groups, or mentorship, it really depends on the child’s behavior plan and what 

they have in place with DSS when they come into the facility.  But, there are a bunch of different programs 

whether it be drug abuse behavior specialist, just the mentorship in general, so they will be out of the house 

in the community interacting and not just kind of school home. It’s more than that and we are trying to 

make it as normal as a family, like it’s a family with four kids.  To me, it’s really not much different but 

I’ve been in the field for so long that to me that’s really what I’m trying to portray. I don’t plan on having 

a sign out front saying, you know, come in, it’s a group home.  Some of the residents may know. 

 

Council Member Chin:  I appreciate what you are trying to do. 

 

Council Member Whitaker: It’s a wonderful thing that you are trying to do. 

 

Mayor Talley:  So, we are going to need a motion to close the public hearing. 

Page 21 of 65



20 
 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Hall:  Madam Mayor I make a motion to close the public hearing. 

 

Mayor Talley:  Do I hear a second? 

 

Council Member Chin:  Second. 

 

Mayor Talley:  All in favor? (All Council Members stated aye) Opposed? Motion carries. 

 

I would like to make a motion that we deny the special use permit based on the conditions that it does not 

further the goals of The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and is not in conformance with the Suburban 

Residential development type. 

• The development does not comply with the standards of the Development Ordinance. 

• The development does not meet all six conditions required by Section 10.144 of the 

Development Ordinance. 

• The use will materially endanger public health or safety if located where it is proposed and 

developed according to the plan submitted. 

• It will substantially injure the value of adjoining property or that the use is a public necessity. 

• The location and character of the use if developed according to the plan as submitted was not 

in harmony with the area which is primarily residential, where the development is to be located, 

and in general conformity with the plan of development for the Graham Planning area. 

 

It just doesn’t meet all the six conditions in which to allow special use in that particular area. Do I hear a 

second? 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Hall:  I second your motion. 

 

Mayor Talley: There is a motion and a second on the floor, any discussion?  All in favor, aye (All Council 

Members stated aye) All opposed? Motion carries. 

 

Mayor Talley: We wish you the best of luck, mam.  I just think that the location in which you want to 

place that it just not, it just does not meet all the requirements that would have to be met in order to be 

approved.  But, we do wish you the best of luck in that field.  I know it’s a difficult job and we appreciate 

your willingness to be able to handle that. 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

ITEM 4: COUNCIL DISCUSSION – SPECIAL USE PERMIT PROCESS 

 

The City Council discussed the legal process of Special Use Permits. 

 

Assistant City Manager Aaron Holland asked that Planning Board Chairman Dean Ward assist with 

conversations.  He stated this issue was brought up at last month’s meeting at the request of the Planning 

Board for Council to add this item to the January meeting to discuss how they would like to handle the 

Special Use process moving forward. He stated it used to be a two-step process of having two quasi-judicial 

hearings per se.  The request would go through the Planning Board and then it would be passed to the 

Council for the final decision.  He stated North Carolina General Statute 160D was implemented and went 

Page 22 of 65



21 
 

away from the two-step process mainly because the applicants were placed into a situation of having two 

quasi-judicial hearings.  He stated that now the Planning Board reviews the application packet and makes 

a recommendation to the Council as to whether it is a complete application. He stated that after evaluating 

recent requests, the Planning Board was coming to Council to see whether we want to maintain that process 

or have the applicant go to one board, either the Board of Adjustment, which is already a quasi-judicial 

board, and hear the item or come straight to Council to hear the item.  He stated there was also talk about 

doing away with Special Use and looking into other mechanisms, such as conditional zoning to handle the 

special use items which would then make it legislative and flow through the Planning Board with 

recommendations to the Council.  
 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland asked the Council to advise staff on how to move forward with the special 

use permit process in the future. 

 

Mayor Talley stated that she had reached out to the City of Mebane including City Attorney Lawson Brown 

regarding their special use permit process.  She stated that City Attorney Lawson shared that special use 

permits still had a viable purpose, especially with large industrial-type uses or requests to use the property 

for sexually oriented purposes.  City Attorney Lawson suggested that boards and Councils have training 

so they know the legalities of quasi-judicial hearings.  She suggested taking the Planning Board out of it 

and if someone has a special use request, it would come directly to Council and it would either be a yes or 

a no. She stated Council would have the opportunity to meet with the legal counsel in the event of a no to 

be able to make sure the Council was wording the decision correctly and legally. 

 

City Attorney Bob Ward stated there could be an element of prejudice that could enter into it once it is 

heard by one body and goes to the other.  He stated it was best to have it heard by one board and make that 

decision and this would develop consistency in the way things are heard and the way you approach it and 

make decisions. 

 

Mayor Talley stated she was concerned about how people are given notice about such hearings. She asked 

how people were notified of special use permit hearings. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated staff sends letters to adjoining property owners beyond what is 

legally required.  He stated the notices were also posted on the property, which was a bright yellow sign, 

notification mailings, and an ad published in the paper. He stated you hope to hit everyone with one of 

these mechanisms making them aware of the meeting. He stated that individuals attending only want to 

attend one meeting and staff encourages them to attend the Planning Board meeting where changes can be 

made before going to Council.   

 

Mayor Talley stated there needed to be something specified in the process to ensure notices are sent above 

and beyond what the law requires. She also asked that something be placed in the application that it does 

not mean a decision would be made that night by the Council. She shared that due to not being able to look 

at the property or do any research ahead of time, she did not want to feel obligated to make a decision right 

then.   

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated he was nervous to say that it would come to Council twice because 

it is quasi-judicial and it is the same board hearing it. 

 

Page 23 of 65



22 
 

Mayor Talley stated that she didn’t think it needed to be put in writing but was just saying she was not 

going to be pressured to make a decision without always getting all the answers that she needed to make a 

good decision. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated that was the Council’s prerogative.  He stated if the Council felt 

uncomfortable making that decision, he just did not know if you would want to put out that it may or may 

not be voted on because the expectation was to have a vote. He stated if the Council wished to have it 

tabled, they could do so.   

 

Mayor Talley asked if the Planning Board encourages applicants to go to conditional. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated yes.  

 

Mayor Talley talked about requiring adequate traffic studies and not just a one-day study.  City Attorney 

Ward stated Council could make that more in-depth than by just checking the box that a traffic study had 

been conducted. 

 

Assistant City Manger Holland asked if was the pleasure of Council that staff bring back a text amendment, 

whichever direction we go in, any changes would have to come back with a text amendment.  He asked if 

that was something Staff needed to work on where it was routed to one meeting. 

 

Mayor Talley stated yes, directly to the Council so there isn’t the argument by the applicant they are being 

disenfranchised by going through both Planning Board meetings, which is quasi-judicial, and then to 

Council.  

 

Mr. Tom Boney, Alamance News, asked what was broken that needed fixing.  He stated the current system 

as he understood looks at the proposed project, while it may be a special use permit it is not required to be 

a quasi-judicial hearing at the planning board phase.  He stated that the Mebane Planning Board hears a 

special use permit but not under sworn testimony. It hears it, makes a recommendation and it goes to the 

Mebane City Council.  He stated the vetting aspect of coming through the Planning Board was invaluable 

screening that serves both the Council and the public well in terms of making sure the applicant or 

developer was ready and had things filled out in the proposal.  He urged Council based on various Councils 

here and mainly in Mebane that the Council and the public are well served to have the screening of an 

initial presentation at a Planning Board level. 

 

Mayor Talley stated she did not disagree with that and questioned whether this came up because someone 

was disenfranchised by having to go through the two meetings, was that the reason. 

 

Planning Board Chairman Dean Ward stated he brought it to Staff’s attention because he thought it was a 

waste of time at the present when the Board was being instructed not to take any action.  He stated the 

Board could sit there and listen for two hours but not take any action, no recommendations and to send it 

on to Council. He stated this was a waste of time for the Planning Board to hear a special use permit request 

if the board could not act.  

 

Mayor Talley asked if there was a reason the Board could not make a recommendation. 

 

City Attorney Ward stated they could make a recommendation even if it is not sworn testimony but with 

the understanding it would be a two-step process.  He stated he could see potential issues if the Planning 

Board votes on it in lieu of making a recommendation.  

Page 24 of 65



23 
 

 

After further discussions, it was the Council’s consensus to have Staff review Mebane’s Planning Board 

process of hearing special use permits and report back to the Council.   

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD  

 

Mr. Joshua Bear, 219 W. Harden Street, Graham, spoke about water pooling at the crosswalk downtown 

specifically the one where Harden Street meets Main Street. He also spoke about speeding on Harden and 

Maple Avenue.  

 
 

CITY STAFF COMMENTS 

 

No comments. 
 

 

CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 

Mayor Talley shared that Bank of America would be closing effective April 2024, and would like for 

Council to reach out to them to make sure this property would not get demolished but be preserved.  
 

Council Member Chin asked if a mirror could be installed on Gilbreath and Maple where it is difficult to 

see southbound traffic. 
 

Mayor Talley asked about one-way signage on Court Square due to people going the wrong way around 

the Court House. 

 

Council Member Whitaker shared there had been some misconduct regarding an Advisory Board member 

and asked if the Council would hold a special session to investigate and look into that situation.  The 

Council consensus was to hold a special meeting regarding the misconduct of an Advisory Board member.  
   

 

CLOSED SESSION: 

 

City Council considered going into closed session pursuant to the terms of N.C.G.S. 143-318-11(a)(3) to 

consult with an attorney employed or retained by the public body in order to preserve the attorney-client 

privilege between the attorney and the public body, which privilege is hereby acknowledged regarding 

Cone Commercial Real Estate Investments, LLC vs City of Graham Alamance County Superior Court case 

number 23CvS1909 and to discuss personnel pursuant to N.C.G.S. 143-318.11(a)(6). 

  

Motion by Council Member Whitaker to go into closed session pursuant to the terms of N.C.G.S. 143-318-

11(a)(3) to consult with an attorney employed or retained by the public body in order to preserve the 

attorney-client privilege between the attorney and the public body, which privilege is hereby acknowledged 

regarding Cone Commercial Real Estate Investments, LLC vs City of Graham Alamance County Superior 

Court case number 23CvS1909 and to discuss personnel pursuant to N.C.G.S. 143-318.11(a)(6), seconded 

by Council Member Chin.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 

Motion by Mayor Talley to return to open session, seconded by Council Member Whitaker. The motion 

passed unanimously.  
 

Page 25 of 65



24 
 

Mayor Talley shared the Council met with the attorney and also discussed personnel. 

 

Mayor Talley motioned to increase the City Manager’s salary to $162,000, effective January 14, 2024, 

seconded by Council Member Chin.  The motion passed unanimously.   
 

 

ADJOURN 
 

Council Member Whitaker motioned to adjourn, seconded by Council Member Chin.  The motion passed 

unanimously. The meeting was adjourned at 8:56 p.m.  

 

 

 Renee M. Ward, CMC 

           City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
January 9, 2024 

City Council Meeting  

Page 26 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION TO LEVY A LOCAL OPTION OCCUPANCY 
TAX 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Set a public hearing date of March 12, 2024, at 6 pm to receive public comment regarding consideration 
of a local option occupancy tax.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The North Carolina General Assembly ratified Senate Bill 154, An Act to Make Various Occupancy Tax 
Changes, which has been designated Session Law 2023-144, that authorized the municipalities of Graham, 
Burlington, Elon, and Mebane to levy room occupancy taxes and to create the Alamance County Municipal 
Tourism Development Authority to promote travel and tourism within the aforementioned municipalities 
in Alamance County.  The law further requires any city that levies such a tax to join with the other 
communities to create an Alamance County Municipal Tourism Development Authority to manage the 
funds raised.  The TDA shall be created by the first community to levy the tax, which Burlington did on 
January 2, 2024.   

Should the City Council decide to set a public hearing on the matter for March 12, 2024, a notice will be 
published on Thursday, February 29, 2024, in order to meet the 10-day statutory requirement per 160A-
215.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The amount of occupancy tax collected in the City of Graham in Fiscal Year 2022-2023 was $79,016.10.  
The City could anticipate an amount similar to this if implemented in the upcoming fiscal year.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

Make a motion to set a public hearing date of March 12, 2024, at 6 pm to receive public comment 
regarding consideration of a local option occupancy tax. 

Page 27 of 65



PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 
CITY OF GRAHAM 

 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City of Graham City Council will hold a public hearing 
on a proposed ordinance to levy a 3% room occupancy tax on the rental of accommodations within 
Graham’s corporate limit, already subject to sales tax. This authority has been given to Graham 
under NC General Statutes Session Law 2023-144. 
 
The public hearing will be held on Tuesday, March 12, 2024, at 6:00 pm during the City Council 
meeting in the Graham City Hall Council Chamber, located at 201 S. Main Street in Graham. 
 
All interested parties are welcome to attend and provide comments to the City Council. If any 
disabled person has a special request for a hearing interpreter or other assistance, please contact 
Renee Ward, City Clerk, at (336) 570-6700.  
 
Questions about the proposed ordinance can be directed to Megan Garner, City Manager, at 336-
570-6700. Copies of the proposal can be obtained under the Your Government tab, Council 
Agendas & Minutes section, of the City’s website at www.cityofgraham.com. 
 

Renee Ward 
City Clerk, City of Graham 

 
   
Publication date:   
February 29, 2024 
 

Page 28 of 65

http://www.cityofgraham.com/


STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ANNEXATION OF 8.70 +/‐ ACRES 

PREPARED BY: CAMERON WEST, PLANNER 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the resolution fixing a date of March 12, 2024, for a public hearing on the question of a contiguous annexation pursuant 

to G.S. 160A‐31 for a tract of land totaling 8.70 +/- acres.  

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The 8.70 ‐acre area being considered for annexation is contiguous. The property owner is planning to connect to public water to this site 
for their residential property. 

Approval of this resolution does not finalize the annexation as Council is required to advertise and conduct a public hearing, followed by a 

vote on an annexation ordinance. Following a public hearing, approval of an Annexation Ordinance is the final step for Council in the 

annexation process. FISCAL   IMPACT:  

New residential property generally creates positive tax revenue for the City, and because the public services are being connected at this site, 

the cost to the City is minimal.  

STAFF  RECOMMENDATION :  

Approval.  

SUGGESTED  MOTION(S):  

1. I move we approve the resolution directing the City clerk to investigate a petition received under G.S. 160A‐31 for potential contiguous 
annexation of GPIN 8882392474.

2. I move we approve the resolution fixing date of March 12, 2024 for a public hearing on the question of annexation pursuant to G.S. 
160A‐31 for 8.70 (+/‐) acres.

Page 29 of 65



Graham GIS, Graham, NC Planning, Alamance GIS, Guilford GIS, Town of Cary,
Alamance County, State of North Carolina DOT, Esri, HERE, Garmin,

INCREMENT P, USGS, EPA, USDA

City of Graham

µ
Disclaimer:
This map was compiled from the GIS resources of the Burlington Regional GIS Partnership for public planning and agency support purposes.  These resources include public information sources of different scale, time, origin,
definition and accuracy, which aspects produce inconsistencies among features represented together on this map.  Neither the City of Graham nor the Partnership shall be held liable for any errors in this map or supporting
data.  Primary public information sources from which this map was compiled, in conjunction with field surveys where required, must be consulted for the verification of the information contained within this map.Print Date: 2/2/2024

Legend
Tax Parcels (unofficial)

Zoning Districts
B-1, Central Business District

B-2, General Business District

B-3, Neighborhood Business
District

C-B, Conditional Business

C-I, Conditional  Industrial

C-MXC, Conditional Commercial
Mixed Use

C-MXR, Conditional Residential
Mixed Use

C-O-I, Conditional Office and
Institutional

C-R, Conditional Residential
District

I-1, Light Industrial District

I-2, Heavy Industrial District

O-I, Office and Institutional

R-7, High-Density Residential
District

R-9, High-Density Residential
District

R-12, Medium-Density
Residential District

R-15, Medium-Density
Residential District

R-18, Low-Density Residential
District

R-G, General Residential District

Graham Zoning

1:4,514

Page 30 of 65

cwest
Polygonal Line



Page 31 of 65



Page 32 of 65



RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE CLERK TO INVESTIGATE A PETITION RECEIVED 
UNDER G.S. 160A-31 LOCATED OFF S NC 87 HWY 

(GPIN: 8882392474) (AN2401) 
 
WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of an area described in said petition was received on 
February 13, 2024, by the Graham City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, G.S. 160A-31 provides that the sufficiency of the petition shall be investigated by the City 
Clerk before further annexation proceedings may take place; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Graham deems it advisable to proceed in response to this 
request for annexation. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Graham: 
That the City Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the above-described petition and to 
certify as soon as possible to the City Council the result of her investigation. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                       Jennifer Talley, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 

               Renee M. Ward, City Clerk 

Page 33 of 65



RESOLUTION FIXING DATE OF MARCH 12, 2024, FOR A PUBLIC HEARING  

ON THE QUESTION OF A CONTIGUOUS ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S. 160A-31 FOR  

8.70 +/- ACRES LOCATED OFF S NC 87 HWY (AN2401) 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the contiguous area described herein has been received; and 

WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of the petition has been made. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina that:  

Section 1. A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area described herein will be held at the City 
Hall, 201 S. Main Street, Graham, NC, at 6:00 pm on March 12, 2024. 
 
Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows: 

 
Legal Description GPIN#: 8882392474: 

 
That certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in Graham Township, Alamance County, North Carolina, 
bounded by South Main Street (S. N.C. 87) on the east, Jean Monnett Ross to the south, Little Alamance Creek to 
the west, and James Edward Ross Jr. to the north and being more particularly described as follows: 
 
Beginning at a 1” existing iron pipe, on the western margin of the 60 foot right of way of South Main Street (S. N.C. 
87), and in the line of Lot 3 of the plat “Exis)ng Parcel Boundary Survey for Jean Monnett Ross” as prepared by 
Boswell Surveyors, Inc., J. Leo Boswell, Professional Land Surveyor, dated September 13, 2016, Job No. 16-185-
400, which plat is dully recorded in Plat Book 78, Page 59, in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Alamance 
County, North Carolina and being the property of Jean Monnett Ross, and said existing pipe being N 37°43’07” W, 
393.23 feet from a 1” existing iron pipe, a corner between the proper)es of William T. Kerr and wife Carolyn W. 
Kerr and in the line of Slippery Elm Proper)es, LLC; 
 
Thence from said Beginning point, along the line of said Lot 3, Jean Monnett Ross property, N 68°05’41” W, 
393.55 feet to a 2” existing iron pipe, a corner with said Lot 3, Jean Monnett Ross property, thence along the line 
of said Lot 3, Jean Monnett Ross property, N 80°24’35” W, 218.70 feet to a point in the center of Little Alamance 
Creek, thence along the centerline of Little Alamance Creek the following courses and distances; N 34°23’39” E, 
39.78 feet; N 06°24’35” E, 
107.83 feet; N 25°34’25” W, 200.00 feet; N 24°04’37” E, 199.92 feet to a 1” existing iron pipe on the north bank of 
Little Alamance Creek, a corner with Lot 1 of said plat, James Edward Ross Jr. property, thence along the line of 
said Lot 1, James Edward Ross Jr. property, S 87°59’25” E, 264.50 feet to an existing axle, corner with said Lot 1, 
James Edward Ross Jr. property, thence along the line of said Lot 1, James Edward Ross Jr. property, S 67°25’23” 
E, 528.67 feet to a point in the centerline of South Main Street (S. N.C. 87), a corner with said Lot 1, James Edward 
Ross Jr. property, thence along the centerline of South Main Street (S. N.C. 87) the following courses and 
distances; S 19°49’21” W, 486.07 feet to a point and S 17°19’38” W, 29.22 feet to a point, a corner with said Lot 3, 
Jean Monnett Ross property, thence along the line of said Lot 3, Jean Monnett Ross property, N 68°05’41” W, 
30.09 feet to the point and place of Beginning, containing 8.70 acres ± and being all of Lot 2 as shown on plat 
entitled “Existing Parcel Boundary Survey for Jean Monnett Ross” as prepared by Boswell Surveyors, Inc., J. Leo 
Boswell, Professional Land Surveyor, dated September 13, 2016, Job No. 16-185-400, which plat is dully recorded 
in Plat Book 78, Page 59, in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Alamance County, North Carolina. 

 
Attest: 

 

Jennifer Talley, Mayor 
  _____________________________________ 

Renee M. Ward, Interim City Clerk 
Page 34 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: BUDGET AMENDMENT 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER/MELANIE KING 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve the budget amendment to recognize $65,000 in received revenue to be used for our health 
insurance reserve account at the North Carolina Health Insurance Pool (NCHIP).   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The City of Graham is a member of NCHIP, which provides self-funded health insurance and other ancillary 
benefits to employees and eligible retirees.  For health insurance, we are capped at a maximum of a 5% 
increase on our annual renewal.  In order to improve the coverage offered through the plan in a way that 
will not compound year after year, we are asking the City Council to approve an allocation to our reserve 
account at the North Carolina Health Insurance Pool.  This money will be held by NCHIP in an account 
specifically designated for the City of Graham.  By approving the budget amendment, the City will be able 
to lower the deductible on the base plan from $4,000 to $3,000 without an impact on our annual renewal 
and compound in future fiscal years.  This funding will be separate from any annual increase in our 
premiums for the upcoming fiscal year.  The annual renewal documentation is due to Blue Cross Blue 
Shield by February 29, 2024; however, the additional payment will occur before June 30, 2024, in order 
to be effective for the plan next fiscal year.   

Approval of this plan change will assist in furthering goal #1 of creating a high-quality organization in 
accordance with the City Council’s priorities as determined at the December 18, 2023, budget retreat.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The budget amendment recognizes additional revenue that has been collected this fiscal year above what 
was budgeted to offset costs. In order to implement the revisions effective July 1, 2024, a budget 
amendment and subsequent payment are required this fiscal year.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

Make a motion to approve the budget amendment in the amount of $65,000.     

Page 35 of 65



Section 1.  
EXPENDITURES          INCREASE
DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

GF - Non Departmental - Group Insurance 276,000.00                               293,500.00                     17,500.00               17,500.00                 
W/S - Non Departmental - Group Insurance 91,000.00                                  138,500.00                     47,500.00               47,500.00                 

367,000.00                               432,000.00                     65,000.00               -                               65,000.00                 

Section 2.          INCREASE
REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

GF - Interest on Investments 105,000.00                               122,500.00                     17,500.00               17,500.00                 
W/S - Interest on Investments 95,000.00                                  142,500.00                     47,500.00               47,500.00                 

200,000.00                               265,000.00                     65,000.00               -                               65,000.00                 

Adopted this 13th day of February 2024.

Attest:

Renee M. Ward, City Clerk

Mayor Jennifer Talley

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE
2023-2024

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2023 - 2024  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 36 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION FOR LSL FIELD SERVICE INVESTIGATION 
FUNDING 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Approve resolution for LSL Field Service Investigation using Drinking Water State Revolving Fund funding. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

With the implementation of the new Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), funding is now available for the new 
lead and copper rule. The new Lead Service Line Rule (LSLR) requires verification of the pipe material for all 
residential service lines within our system. We are required to identify and inventory residential services 
installed using lead or lead solder. Staff would like to apply for funding from the Drinking Water State Revolving 
Fund to conduct field service investigations on service lines within the water distribution system. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Funding options may require a small match or cover the entire project at 100%. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

Approval.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to approve the resolution resolution for LSL Field Service Investigation using Drinking Water State Revolving 
Fund funding. 

 

Page 37 of 65



RESOLUTION BY GOVERNING BODY OF APPLICANT 
 

WHEREAS, The Federal Clean Water Act Amendments of 1987 and the North Carolina Water Infrastructure Act 
of 2005 (NCGS 159G) have authorized the making of loans and grants to aid eligible units of 
government in financing the cost of construction and studies of drinking water distribution system 
and wastewater collections system projects, and 

WHEREAS, The City of Graham has a need for and intends to conduct a study described as City of Graham LSL 
Field Service Investigation using Drinking Water State Revolving Fund funding. The project will 
consist of field service investigations on residential service lines within the water distribution 
system that may contain lead or lead solder, and 

WHEREAS, The City of Graham intends to request a State loan and/or grant assistance for the project.  

Now therefore it be resolved, by the City Council of the City of Graham: 
That City of Graham, the Applicant, will arrange financing for all remaining costs of the project if 
approved for a State loan and/or grant award. 

That the Applicant will adopt and place into effect on or before completion of the project a schedule 
of fees and charges and other available funds which will provide adequate funds for proper 
operation, maintenance, and administration of the system and the repayment of all principal and 
interest on the debt. 

That the governing body of the Applicant agrees to include in the loan agreement a provision 
authorizing the State Treasurer, upon failure of the City of Graham to make scheduled repayment 
of the loan, to withhold from the City of Graham any State funds that would otherwise be 
distributed to the local government unit in an amount sufficient to pay all sums then due and 
payable to the State as a repayment of the loan. 

That the Applicant will provide for efficient operation and maintenance of the project on 
completion of construction thereof. 

That Jennifer Tally, Mayor or Megan Garner, City Manager, the Authorized Official, and successors 
so titled, is hereby authorized to execute and file an application on behalf of the Applicant with the 
State of North Carolina for a loan and/or grant to aid in the study of or construction of the project 
described above. 

That the Authorized Official, and successors so titled, is hereby authorized and directed to furnish 
such information as the appropriate State agency may request in connection with such application 
or the project:  to make the assurances as contained above; and to execute such other documents 
as may be required in connection with the application. 

That the Applicant has substantially complied or will substantially comply with all Federal, State, 
and local laws, rules, regulations, and ordinances applicable to the project and to Federal and State 
grants and loans pertaining thereto. 

 
Adopted this the 13th of February 2024, at the City of Graham Municipal Building, Graham, North Carolina. 

 

 
        (Signature of Chief Executive Officer) (Jennifer Talley) 

 
 
                             Mayor 

 
                              (Title)  

Page 38 of 65



 
CERTIFICATION BY RECORDING OFFICER 

 

The undersigned duly qualified and acting City Clerk of the City of Graham does hereby certify:  That the 

above/attached resolution is a true and correct copy of the resolution authorizing the filing of an application with 

the State of North Carolina, as regularly adopted at a legally convened meeting of the City of Graham City Council 

duly held on the 13th day of February 2024;  and, further, that such resolution has been fully recorded in the 

journal of proceedings and records in my office.  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 

________ day of _______________ 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Signature of Recording Officer) 

 

 

City Clerk 

(Title of Recording Officer) 

Page 39 of 65



 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ROAD CLOSURES FOR GRPD PROGRAMS IN DOWNTOWN GRAHAM 

PROGRAM & RAIN DATES FOR: SLICE OF SUMMER – PUMPKIN BASH – 
THURSDAYS AT SEVEN CONCERT SERIES – 9/11 COMMEMORATIVE 5K 

PREPARED BY: BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS 

 
REQUESTED ACTION:   

The Recreation and Parks Department requests the following street closures for downtown programs in 2024: 

Slice of Summer: closure of the 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets and North and South Main Streets on June 8, 2024 from 
1pm-9pm.  We also request approval of the same road closures from 1pm-9pm on June 15, 2024 as an alternative date.  

Pumpkin Bash: closure of the 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets on October 25, 2024 from 2pm-10:30pm and North and South 
Main Streets from 4pm-10:30pm.   

Thursdays at Seven Concert Series: closure of the 100 block of West Elm Street on May 23, June 27, July 25, August 22, September 
12, & September 26 for the 2024 Thursdays at Seven Concert Series. All closures will begin at 5:00pm and re-open by 11:30pm. In 
the event a concert must be postponed, we also request the same closure as above on the following dates: May 30, June 6, 13, 20; 
July 11, 18; August 1, 8, 15, 29; September 5, 19; October 3, 10, 17.  

9/11 Commemorative 5K Event: Closure of the northbound lane of Maple Street from Pine Street to McAden Street, McAden Street 
from South Main to Maple Street, the southbound lane of South Main Street from Pine Street to McAden Street, Pine Street from 
South Main to Maple Street from 6:00 a.m. – 11:00 a.m. on Saturday, September 14, 2024. In the instance that the event date needs 
to be rescheduled, we also request the same closure as above for Saturday, September 7, 2024 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

City Council has approved similar requested closures in past years.   

GRPD staff and Graham Police Officers will continue to execute the closures and provide appropriate monitoring and security.  

As in past years, alternative dates will give staff and vendors/bands the option to reschedule on days with possible inclement 
weather or when other issues arise. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact to the City of Graham aside from the regularly budgeted program expenses.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends the following:  
Page 40 of 65



1. Approve the closure of the 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets and the 100 blocks of North and South Main Streets 
on June 8, 2024 (Alt. Date: June 15th) from 1pm-9pm for the Slice of Summer Festival; 

2. Approve the closure of the 100 blocks of East and West Elm Streets from 2pm-10:30pm and North and South Main 
Streets from 4pm-10:30pm on October 25, 2024 for the Pumpkin Bash; 

3. Approve the closure of the 100 block of West Elm Street on May 23, June 27, July 25, August 22, September 12, & 
September 26 for the 2024 Thursdays at Seven Concert Series. All closures will begin at 5:00pm and re-open by 
11:30pm.  Staff also requests approval for a 5:00pm-11:30pm closure for alternative dates of: May 30, June 6, 13, 20; 
July 11, 18; August 1, 8, 15, 29; September 5, 19; October 3, 10, 17. 

4. Approve the closure of the northbound lane of Maple Street from Pine Street to McAden Street, McAden Street from 
South Main to Maple Street, the southbound lane of South Main Street from Pine Street to McAden Street, Pine Street 
from South Main to Maple Street from 6:00 a.m. – 11:00 a.m. on Saturday, September 14, 2024 for the 9/11 
Commemorative 5K. Staff also recommends approval for the same closure for an alternate date of Saturday, 
September 7, 2024. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I MAKE A MOTION TO APPROVE THE STAFF RECOMMENDED STREET CLOSURES FOR THE SLICE OF SUMMER, PUMPKIN BASH, THE THURSDAYS AT SEVEN 

CONCERT SERIES, AND THE 9/11 COMMEMORATIVE 5K.  

Page 41 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ENCROACHMENT AGREEMENT FOR 106,108, AND 110 S. 
MAPLE STREET 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Approve encroachment agreement for 106, 108, and 110 S. Maple Street. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

Alamance County recently acquired property located 
at 106, 108, and 110 S. Maple Street. It was discovered 
that there is a 0.2 ft encroachment of the building onto 
the Maple Street right-of-way. The attorneys for the 
County have provided an encroachment agreement 
which has been reviewed and recommended by our 
attorneys to move forward City Council consideration.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

N/A 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

Approval. The City attorneys have reviewed the legal document. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to approve the encroachment agreement provided by Alamance County for 106, 108, and 110 S. Maple Street. 

 

Page 42 of 65



Page 43 of 65



Page 44 of 65



Page 45 of 65



Page 46 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: FIRE HOSE INSURANCE CLAIM BUDGET AMENDMENT 

PREPARED BY: MELANIE KING, FINANCE OFFICER 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve budget amendment to recognize $1,010 in insurance proceeds revenue and increase the Fire 
Department Maintenance & Repair Equipment budget by $1,010.  

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

While operating at a commercial building fire located at 300 E. Parker Street on 11/13/23, a civilian 
operating a small passenger car drove around a barricade and struck a section of 5” supply hose that 
was supplying water from a hydrant to the ladder truck, which resulted in the hose being damaged. The 
hose was taken out of service until it could be tested. Once tested, the hose failed and was permanently 
removed from service. At the time of the incident, Graham PD stopped the driver and obtained 
vehicle/driver information. Once the hose was considered unusable, an insurance claim was filed against 
the driver’s insurance.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Increase to revenue in the amount of $1,010 with offsetting increase to expenditures in the same 
amount. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we approve the budget amendment to recognize $1,010 in insurance proceeds revenue and 
increase the Fire Department Maintenance & Repair Equipment budget by $1,010.  

 

Page 47 of 65



Section 1.  
GENERAL FUND          INCREASE
DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

Fire Department - Maint & Repair Equipment 14,600.00                                 15,610.00                       1,010.00                 1,010.00                   
14,600.00                                15,610.00                       1,010.00                 -                              1,010.00                   

Section 2.
GENERAL FUND         INCREASE
REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

General Fund - Insurance Proceeds 1,000.00                                   2,010.00                         1,010.00                 1,010.00                   
1,000.00                                   2,010.00                         1,010.00                 -                              1,010.00                   

Adopted this 13th day of February 2024.

Attest:

Renee M. Ward, City Clerk

Mayor Jennifer Talley

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE
2023-2024

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2023 - 2024  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 48 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve the Conflict of Interest policy that would pertain to elected officials, appointed officials, and staff.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The City of Graham is a recipient of $600,000 (Grant ID: 12251) through the 2023 Appropriations Act for 
downtown improvements.  A condition of our funding requires, among other items, an adopted Conflict 
of Interest Policy.  The version before you is based off a template provided by the Office of State Budget 
and Management.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no cost to implementing this policy; however, the City will receive $600,000 in grant funding once 
this condition has been met.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

Make a motion to approve the Conflict of Interest policy that would pertain to elected officials, 
appointed officials, and staff.   

Page 49 of 65



City of Graham 
 

 
 

Conflict of Interest Policy 
 

The purpose of the following policy and procedures is to prevent the personal interest of staff members, appointed 
officials, and City Council of the City of Graham from interfering with the performance of their duties to the City of 
Graham, or resulting in personal financial, professional, and/or political gain on the part of such persons at the 
expense of the City of Graham. 

Definitions: Conflict of Interest (also Conflict) means a conflict, or the appearance of a conflict between the private 
interests and official responsibilities of a person in a position of trust.  Persons in a position of trust include staff 
members, appointed officials, and City Council of City of Graham. Governing Board (also board) means the City 
Council.  Council Member means an individual member of the City Council.  Staff member means a person who 
receives all or part of his/her income from the payroll of the City of Graham.  Appointed official means a member of 
a board or commission of the city.   

Policy: 
1. Full disclosure, by notice in writing, shall be made by the interested parties to the full City Council in all conflicts 

of interest, including but not limited to the following: 

a) A Council Member is related to another Council Member. 
b) A Council Member is related to a staff member. 
c) A Council Member is also a staff member.   
d) A staff member in a supervisory capacity is related to another staff member whom he/she supervises. 
e) A Council Member or staff member receives payment from the City of Graham for any contract, subcontract, 

goods, or services other than as part of his/her regular job responsibilities or as reimbursement for reasonable 
expenses incurred as provided in the bylaws and board policy. 

f) A staff member is a member of the governing body of a contributor to the City of Graham. 
g) A Council Member, appointed official, or staff member may have personal, financial, professional, or political 

gain at the expense of the City.   
h) A Council Member, appointed official, or staff member engages in activities that may cause a loss of public 

credibility in the City or create a public impression of impropriety. 

2. Following full disclosure of a possible conflict of interest or any condition listed above, the City Council shall 
determine whether a conflict of interest exists, and if so, the Council shall vote to authorize or reject the 
transaction and/or condition.  Both votes shall be by a majority vote without counting the vote of any interested 
Council Member, even if the disinterested Council Member are less than a quorum, provided that at least one 
consenting Council Member is disinterested.  

3. An interested Council Member, appointed official, or staff member shall not participate in any discussion or 
debate of the City Council, or of any committee thereof, in which the subject of discussion is a contract, 
transaction, or situation in which there may be a conflict of interest.  

Page 50 of 65



4. No Council Member, appointed official, or staff member shall participate in the selection, award, or administration 
of a procurement transaction in which federal or state funds are used, where to his/her knowledge, any of the 
following has a financial interest in that transaction: (1) the staff member, appointed official, or Council Member; 
(2) any member of his/her immediate family; (3) his/her partner; (4)  City of Graham in which any of the above is 
an appointed official, Council Member, or employee; or (5) a person or City of Graham with whom any of the 
above is negotiating or has any arrangement concerning prospective employment. 

5. Existence of any of the above-listed conditions shall render a contract or a transaction voidable unless full 
disclosure of personal interest is made in writing to the City Council and such transaction was approved by the 
governing body in full knowledge of such interest. 

6. The disinterested Council Members are authorized to impose by majority vote other reasonable sanctions as 
necessary to recover associated costs against a Council Member, appointed official, or staff member for failure to 
disclose a conflict of interest as described in Paragraph 1 or for any appearance of a conflict.  

7. Appeal from sanctions imposed pursuant to Paragraph 5 and 6 above shall be prescribed by law in those courts 
of the State of North Carolina with jurisdiction over both the parties and the subject matter of the appeal. 

8. A copy of this policy shall be given to all Council Member, appointed officials, and staff members upon 
commencement of such person’s relationship with the City of Graham.  Each Council Member, appointed official, 
and staff member shall sign and date the policy at the beginning of his or her term of service or employment.  
Failure to sign does not nullify the policy.  

 

Signed: 

               
(signature)       (name printed) 

 
       
(date) 

Page 51 of 65



Page 52 of 65



Page 53 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: INTENT TO PURCHASE SANITATION TRUCK 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER/BURKE ROBERTSON 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve the intent to purchase and authorize staff to effectuate necessary documents.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The Public Works Department needs to purchase a DuraPack Python 28-yard body mounted on a 
2024 Peterbilt 520 chassis to replace a 2010 sanitation truck, which will be sold via an approved surplus 
method.  Due to the COVID pandemic, the lead time on a new truck can vary between 12-18 months and 
the price will remain $425,000 if the City locks in before September 2024.   

The City of Graham may purchase the sanitation apparatus in accordance with N.C.G.S. 143-129(e)(6), 
which authorizes “Purchases of apparatus, supplies, materials, or equipment when: (i) performance or 
price competition for a product are not available; (ii) a needed product is available from only one source 
of supply; or (iii) standardization or compatibility is the overriding consideration.”.  The City of Graham 
has standardized Peterbilt with the last two sanitation trucks that were purchased.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Cost to purchase the truck is estimated not to exceed $425,000; either the full amount or debt service 
payments will be included in the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 budget.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval.   

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

Make a motion to approve the intent to purchase and authorize staff to effectuate necessary documents.   

Page 54 of 65



RESOLUTION OF INTENT TO PURCHASE A DURAPACK PYTHON 28-YARD BODY 
MOUNTED ON A 2024 PETERBILT 520 CHASSIS 

 

WHEREAS, The City of Graham has a need to purchase a new sanitation truck to continue 
providing top-quality service to our citizens; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed new truck will be replacing a 2010 sanitation truck, that will be sold via 
an approved surplus method; and 
 
WHEREAS, due to the COVID pandemic, the lead time on a new truck can vary between 12-18 
months; and 
 
WHEREAS, the cost of a new truck is anticipated not to exceed $425,000, assuming the City locks 
in before September 2024; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Graham may purchase the sanitation apparatus in accordance with 
N.C.G.S. 143-129(e)(6), which authorizes “Purchases of apparatus, supplies, materials, or 
equipment when: (i) performance or price competition for a product are not available; (ii) a 
needed product is available from only one source of supply; or (iii) standardization or 
compatibility is the overriding consideration.”; 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Graham has standardized Peterbilt with the last two sanitation trucks that 
were purchased; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Graham will include payment, either in full or debt service via financing, 
for the sanitation truck in the upcoming Fiscal Year 2024-2025 budget. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Graham City Council approves this intent to 
purchase a DuraPack Python 28-yard body mounted on a 2024 Peterbilt 520 chassis.   
Adopted this the 13th day of February 2024. 
 
______________________________ 
Jennifer Talley, Mayor 
        ______________________________ 
        Renee Ward, City Clerk 

Page 55 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: WATER TAP SPECIAL REQUEST FOR 1359 TERRYWOOD 
ROAD 

PREPARED BY: EVAN WORKMAN, PLANNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Permit Brandon Kerley to connect to the City’s water system without annexation for property located at 1359 Terrywood 
Road.  

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

Brandon Kerley, owner of 1359 Terrywood Road in Haw River, 
has requested special permission from City Council to allow him 
to connect his non-contiguous property to an existing water 
transmission line that runs in front of his property.  

Per Section 13-41 of the City of Graham Code of Ordinances, the 
applicant is seeking special permission from the City to connect to 
a utility line without annexation. On rare occasions the City of 
Graham has allowed properties outside City limits to connect to 
the water/sewer systems.  The petitioner is looking to connect as 
some neighboring properties in the area have previously been 
connected to the water system.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Due to the proximity of the property to existing city limits, the additional service demands upon the City of Graham 
pursuant to annexation would be considerable due to the additional distance for sanitation services as well as public safety.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

N/A 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

Approval- I move to permit the property at 1359 Terrywood Road to tap the City of Graham water line without 
annexation. 

Deny- I move we deny the special request or require that the petitioner be annexed in order to receive city water service to 
the property. 

Page 56 of 65



Page 57 of 65



Page 58 of 65



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: GRPD SPONSORSHIP POLICY 

PREPARED BY: BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the Sponsorship Policy and Procedures for the Graham Recreation and Parks Department (GRPD). 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The GRPD does not have a comprehensive policy guiding staff when developing contracts with various businesses, organizations or 
individuals wishing to sponsor GRPD events, projects, programs or sites.  Each division identifies potential sponsors and works within 
a pre-established sponsorship packet to develop sponsorship contracts.   

The proposed Sponsorship Policy and Procedures will establish guidelines for sponsors wishing to create a relationship with the 
GRPD.  The Sponsorship Policy and Procedures will also establish guidelines for GRPD staff to consider when accepting sponsors.  
These guidelines and procedures will help protect the City, its staff, and ultimately its citizens by establishing a process for accepting 
and rejecting potential sponsorships. 

Established sponsorship opportunities for GRPD events, projects, programs, and sites will be included with the Sponsorship Policy 
and Procedures.  GRPD staff may periodically these sponsorship levels based on changing economic factors and changes in GRPD 
events, projects, programs, and sites.   

The Sponsorship Policy and Procedures has been reviewed by GRPD staff, the Graham Recreation Commission, City administration, 
and City attorneys. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no expense for the GRPD but an increase in sponsorship revenue is expected as a result of a formal policy.  Established 
guidelines will benefit sponsors by ensuring specific recognition is provided by the GRPD (marketing, signage, term length, etc.), 
exclusivity is maintained when appropriate (limiting types of sponsors for each entity), message content is beneficial for the sponsor 
and GRPD, and will ensure all GRPD staff are consistent when soliciting and entering sponsorship contracts.    

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt the GRPD Sponsorship Policy and Procedures as presented. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I MAKE A MOTION TO APPROVE THE GRAHAM RECREATION AND PARKS DEPARTMENT’S SPONSORSHIP POLICY AND PROCEDURES.  

 

Page 59 of 65



Graham Recreation and Parks Department 

Sponsorship Policy and Procedures 

Statement of Policy 

The City of Graham Recreation and Parks Department (GRPD) will actively pursue sponsorships from for-profit 
entities for department events, special projects, programs, and sites to enhance and sustain Graham’s recreation and 
parks system in a manner that respects the noncommercial nature of public places. All sponsorships must comply 
with the guidelines and procedures outlined in this policy. 

The GRPD recognizes that entering into a sponsorship agreement with an external entity does not constitute an 
endorsement of the entity or its services and products but does imply an affiliation. Such affiliation can affect the 
reputation of the City of Graham among its citizens and its ability to govern effectively. Therefore, any proposal for 
sponsorship of a GRPD event, project, program, or site in which the involvement of an outside entity compromises 
the public’s perception of the City’s neutrality or its ability to act in the public interest will be rejected.   

The City of Graham maintains its sponsorship program as a nonpublic forum and exercises sole discretion over who is 
eligible to become a sponsor according to the terms of this policy. 

Whenever possible, sponsorships should be linked to specific department events, special projects, programs, and 
sites. The City of Graham will neither seek, nor accept sponsors that manufacture products or take positions 
inconsistent with local, state, or federal law or with City policies, positions, or resolutions. The establishment of a 
sponsorship agreement does not constitute an endorsement of the sponsor’s organization, products, or services by 
the City of Graham. 

1.0          Purpose 
The guidelines and procedures of this policy are intended to guide the GRPD Director, staff, and any 
associated Friends groups or similar organizations responsible for sponsorship business agreements and to 
help potential sponsors understand the opportunities and constraints of a sponsorship. 

2.0             Definitions  
2.1   Sponsorship –financial or in-kind support from a for-profit entity for a specific program, special event, or 
facility in exchange for tangible and intangible benefits to the sponsor. For the sponsor, that can include but 
is not limited to: 

a.       Marketing opportunities on City property; 
b.      Name association with an event or program; 
c.       Authorization by the City for the business to promote its relationship with the GRPD and its 

association with GRPD programs; 
Sponsorship is a negotiated business agreement between the sponsor and the City. 
2.2   Gifts – a freely given donation of goods, cash, or real property to the GRPD with no expectation of 
return. Gifts may be designated for a specific purpose or general in nature. Recognition for donors and 
donations will be determined by the City. 
2.3   Marketing Benefits – opportunities given to the for-profit sponsor to have their branding, products, 
name, and logo temporarily displayed on City property or materials (print or digital); Customized marketing 
opportunities are specific to each sponsorship, detailed in each agreement and must meet City laws and 
departmental policies. 

Page 60 of 65



2.4   Advertising – the signage created by the for-profit entity to promote a product; Advertising is to only be 
placed in designated, purchased space and/or in the GRPD’s printed and online materials; The permanent 
placement of a corporate logo, brand, or product placement in a public facility or park is considered 
advertising and not allowed. 
2.5   Temporary Advertising – the temporary display of corporate logos, branding, or advertising at a GRPD 
event, facility, or promotional materials (print or digital). 
2.6   Event – a one-time public activity organized by the GRPD and held on City property, usually lasting one 
day but may extend over two weeks or more. 
2.7   Project – a one-time departmental effort with an end product. 
2.8   Program – on-going, organized activities led by the GRPD for the public which generally involve staff 
supervision. 
2.9   Site – a specific place including but not limited to community centers, gymnasiums, athletic fields, 
neighborhood parks, or entire parks. 
 

3.0              Authority 
Under section 14-21 of the City of Graham Code of Ordinances, the GRPD “shall have complete supervision of 
the structures, areas and all activities conducted on or connected with the parks, playgrounds, water areas, 
athletic fields, recreation centers, and other recreation facilities which are provided.” Any agreement for a 
sponsorship from a for-profit entity for department programs, special events, and/or facilities will require the 
approval of the GRPD Director as authorized by section 14-23(6) of the City of Graham Code of Ordinances. 

The City of Graham possesses sole and final decision-making authority for determining the appropriateness 
of a sponsorship relationship and reserves the right to refuse any offer of sponsorship.  

  Sponsorship agreement proposals will be reviewed according to the following procedures and guidelines: 
a.    All sponsorships up to $50,000 shall be approved in consultation with the City Manager or the 

City Manager’s designee; 
b.   Sponsorship agreements projected to generate $50,000 or more shall require the written 

approval of the City of Graham manager, who shall inform the city council; 
c.    Sponsorship agreements projected to generate less than $50,000 shall require the written 

approval of the Recreation and Parks Director; 
d.   A division head may approve sponsorship agreements of less than $5,000, in consultation with 

the Recreation and Parks Director. 
At the discretion of the City of Graham manager, any proposed sponsorship agreement may be referred to 
the city council for approval. 

4.0            Sponsorship Categories 
4.1   Sponsorships are available in four GRPD activities and places: 

4.1.1      Event Sponsorship – the financial or in-kind support for a GRPD-organized event. Depending 
on the sponsorship agreement, the sponsor’s name may be directly associated with the event and 
the sponsor may have a variety of temporary advertising and marketing opportunities. Opportunities 
are listed in the Event Sponsorship Inventory (Appendix A); 
4.1.2      Project Sponsorship – the financial or in-kind support of a specific GRPD project which is 
usually a one-time effort. Opportunities are listed in the Project Sponsorship Inventory (Appendix A); 
4.1.3      Program Sponsorship – the financial support of a GRPD led program. A program includes a 
series of ongoing activities organized by the GRPD. Recognition of the sponsor may continue 

Page 61 of 65



throughout the program’s duration. Depending upon the details of the agreement, a sponsor’s name 
may be associated directly with the program with other marketing opportunities available. 
Opportunities are listed in the Program Sponsorship Inventory (Appendix A); 
4.1.4      Site Sponsorship – the financial or in-kind support of a specific facility or facility feature in the 
GRPD. Sponsor support may be used at the discretion of the GRPD for capital projects, general 
operations, repairs, etc. Marketing opportunities and sponsor recognition are negotiated in the 
sponsorship agreement. Opportunities are listed in the Site Sponsorship Inventory (Appendix A). 

4.2   This policy also impacts other associated sponsorships: 
4.2.1      Recreation Organizations – The GRPD partners with other recreation organizations on several 
events, special projects, programs, and sites. Any sponsorship agreement entered into by the 
partnering organizations will, at a minimum, be held to the standards of this policy;  
4.2.2      Community Sports Teams – This policy shall govern any individual sponsorship agreement 
entered into by a team entered in a GRPD athletic league. For any individual team not entered in a 
GRPD athletic league but participating at a GRPD facility, all sponsorship agreement benefits being 
carried out by the team must be approved by the GRPD Director or designee; 
4.2.3      Cultural Institutions – The GRPD partners with cultural organizations on several events, 
special projects, programs, and sites. Any sponsorship agreement entered into by the partnering 
organizations will, at a minimum, be held to the standards of this policy; 
4.2.4      Associated Friends Groups and Foundations – Each friends group or foundation associated 
with any aspect of the GRPD’s events, projects, programs, or sites shall have an individual agreement 
with the GRPD regarding roles and responsibilities. With respect to sponsorships, unless otherwise 
stated and agreed upon, these groups will follow this policy when considering sponsorships and/or 
gifts.  

5.0            Procedures 
5.1   Sponsorships are arranged primarily through two processes: 

a. Self-initiated by the potential sponsor; 
b. Initiated by the GRPD through a formal or informal solicitation process. 

5.2   Interested sponsors are encouraged to contact the GRPD at any time to discuss a potential sponsorship. 
The procedure will be: 

a. Meeting with assigned GRPD staff; 
b.    Memorandum of Understanding drafted with levels of sponsorship, benefits to the GRPD, and 

event, project, program, or site details evaluated; 
c.  Sponsorship draft evaluated against established guidelines; 
d.    Approval / Disapproval; 
e.    Binding MOU executed. 

6.0              Guidelines for Accepting Sponsorships 
6.1   The GRPD welcomes sponsorships as an opportunity to enhance services as long as the sponsorships are 
consistent with City policies and regulations, respect the physical beauty of public spaces, and reaffirm the 
GRPD’s mission and core services. In considering any proposal for sponsorship of a GRPD event, project, 
program, or site by a for-profit entity, each of the following qualities and questions shall be considered: 

6.1.1   Qualities for Consideration 
6.1.1.1      Corporate Citizenship – Entities with innovative charitable programs with a 
particular emphasis on programs promoting quality recreation, healthful living, education, 
and/or environmental, historical, and cultural awareness; 

Page 62 of 65



6.1.1.2      High-Quality Recreation – Entities that promote, support, or help create and 
preserve opportunities for high-quality recreation; 
6.1.1.3      Healthful Living – Entities that promote, support, or help preserve opportunities for 
healthful living through health and fitness;  
6.1.1.4      Environment – Entities that show respect for the natural environment and have 
programs that support or promote preservation and conservation efforts; 
6.1.1.5      Diversity – Entities that show respect for cultural resources and have programs that 
support or promote diverse cultures; 
6.1.1.6      Safe and Useful Products – Entities and companies that provide high-quality 
products and are industry leaders in their field. 

6.1.2   Questions for Consideration  
6.1.2.1   Are the entities’ products, services, and marketing goals compatible with the GRPD’s 
mission, values, and policies and/or the policies and laws of the City? 
6.1.2.2   Does the proposed sponsorship enhance the priorities, programs, and core services 
of the GRPD? 
6.1.2.3   Does the sponsorship commit the GRPD or other City departments to additional 
operating and maintenance responsibilities and costs? 
6.1.2.4   Do the marketing and temporary advertising conditions of the sponsorship 
compromise the design standards or visual integrity of GRPD sites or the experience of 
users? 
6.1.2.5   Are the tangible and intangible benefits equal for both the sponsor and the GRPD? 
6.1.2.6   Would the sponsorship create a conflict of interest for the GRPD or the City? 
6.1.2.7   What is the entity’s past record on community involvement with municipal projects 
and agencies? 
6.1.2.8   Would the sponsorship saturate the number of similar entities sponsoring an event, 
project, program, or site? 

6.2   Sponsorship from an organization that is engaged in any of the following activities; that has a mission 
supporting any of the following subject matters; or that, in the sole discretion and judgment of the 
authorized representative of the City, is deemed to be unsuitable for and contrary to community standards 
of appropriateness for government publications, shall be prohibited on any City of Graham property: 

a. Promotion of the sale or consumption of tobacco products; 
b. Commentary, advocacy, or promotion of issues, candidates, or campaigns pertaining to political 

elections; 
c. Depiction in any form of profanity or obscenity, or promotion of sexually oriented products, 

activities, or materials; 
d. Promotion of the sale or use of firearms, explosives, or other weapons, or glorification of violent 

acts; 
e. Promotion or depiction of illegal products, or glorification of illegal products, activities, or 

materials. 
Exception: Promotion of the sale or consumption of alcoholic beverages, or promotion of establishments 
that are licensed to sell and primarily do sell alcoholic beverages, including bars will be limited to 
appropriate events, projects, or programs; however, food service establishments or places of lodging 
may be authorized only when the sale of alcohol is incidental to providing food service or lodging and/or 
the establishments’ involvement in the event is appropriate. (i.e.: a bar located in the downtown 
business district may sponsor a concert series)  

Page 63 of 65



6.3   The City reserves the right to deny a sponsorship based on any factors that may undermine public 
confidence in the City’s impartiality or interfere with the efficient delivery of City services or operations, 
including, but not limited to, current or potential conflicts of interest between the sponsor and City 
employees, officials, or affiliates; and the potential for the sponsorship to tarnish the City’s standing among 
its citizens or otherwise impair the ability of the City of Graham to govern its citizens. 

7.0              Memorandum of Understanding Governing the Sponsorship 
A Memorandum of Understanding (Section 15) shall be created for each sponsorship relationship. At a 
minimum, it shall detail the following information: 

a. Activities, products, and services of the private entity and its subsidiaries; 
b. Benefits to be given to the proposed sponsor by the City of Graham and the estimated monetary 

value of those benefits; 
c. Benefits to be given to the City of Graham by the proposed sponsor and the estimated monetary 

value of those benefits; 
d. Prominence of the proposed public recognition of support; 
e. Content of the proposed public recognition of support; 
f. Duration of the proposed public recognition of support; 
g. Conditions under which the sponsorship agreement will be terminated. 

8.0              Marketing Benefits and Recognition Guidelines 
8.1   Marketing benefits for the sponsor are negotiated and detailed in each specific Sponsorship MOU. When 
applicable, the GRPD will offer a choice of sponsorship levels with appropriate benefits associated with each 
level. Guidelines include: 

8.1.1      All sponsorship marketing materials must be approved by the GRPD, including but not limited 
to: 

a. Printed banners, signs, brochures, cards, posters, newsletters, product labels; 
b. Digital imprints on websites and social media 

8.1.2      Specific outdoor park facilities and indoor recreation centers will have established areas for 
temporary advertising and sponsorship recognition. Visual impact and safety will be considered. 
8.1.3      An unlimited number of corporate sponsorship recognition and logos printed on “walk-away” 
products (i.e. T-shirts, water bottles) is acceptable. Visual impact will be considered. 
8.1.4      The City Manager, GRPD Director, or designee must approve the use of the City or GRPD logo 
by the sponsor in their own business publications. All logo use must be associated with the specific 
program or sponsorship. 

8.2   Permissible Sponsors and Message Content 
The City intends to preserve its rights and discretion to exercise full editorial control over the 
placement, content, appearance, and wording of sponsorship affiliations and messages. The City may 
make distinctions on the appropriateness of sponsors based on the subject matter of a potential 
sponsorship recognition message.  

8.3   Permissible Recognition Messages 
Sponsorship recognition messages may identify the sponsor but should not promote or endorse the 
organization or its products or services. Statements that advocate, contain price information or an 
indication of associated savings or value, request a response, or contain comparative or qualitative 
descriptions of products, services, or organizations will not be accepted. Only the following content 
will be deemed appropriate: 
a. The legally recognized name of the advertising organization; 

Page 64 of 65



b. The advertiser’s organizational slogan if it identifies rather than promotes the organization or its 
products or services; 

c. The advertiser’s product or service line, described in brief, generic, objective terms. Generally, 
only one product or service line may be identified; 

d. Brief contact information for the advertiser’s organization, such as phone number, address, or 
website. Contact information must be stated in a manner that avoids the implication of urging 
the viewer to action. 

9.0            Terms of Agreement 
9.1   The GRPD will use current market research data to calculate the value of each tangible and intangible 
asset offered by the GRPD or the City to the sponsor. Costs related to the sponsorship incurred by the GRPD 
will be incorporated into the sponsorship costs. 
9.2   Determining the sponsorship costs and values will be a mixture of a “value-based” system based upon 
the value of marketing and brand benefits to the sponsor and a “cost-based” system where the goal is to 
recover at least the costs of an event, project, program, and site operations. 
9.3   Agreements should include the following at a minimum: 

a. Clear statement of how the GRPD is improving services through this funding and how the 
sponsorship supports the GRPD mission and vision; 

b. The financial value, benefits associated, and costs of the sponsorship, including any exclusivity or 
other hierarchy of benefits; 

c. Type and time limit for each sponsorship; 
d. Clear statement of the responsibilities and roles of the GRPD and the sponsor; 
e. Specific plan for marketing and branding opportunities; display, type, location, size, design, 

content and duration; 
f. Term and termination provisions.  

10.0        Implementation Procedures 
This policy becomes effective upon approval by the Graham City Council. The GRPD shall subsequently 
develop and maintain procedures for the availability and acceptance of sponsorships and donations related 
to the events, special projects, programs, and sites provided by each GRPD Division. These procedures shall 
in no way conflict or supersede any terms or provisions of this policy.   

The City of Graham is not obligated to make any statements that directly or indirectly advocate or endorse a 
sponsor’s organization, products, or services. 

No materials or communications, including, but not limited to, print, video, Internet, broadcast, or display items 
developed to promote or communicate the sponsorship using the City of Graham’s or the Graham Recreation and 
Parks Department’s name, marks, or logo, may be issued without written approval from the Graham City Manager 
and/or Attorney. 

Questions or comments regarding this policy should be referred to the Office of the Recreation and Parks Director @ 
336.513.5510. 

Page 65 of 65


	02-13-24 - Agenda
	01-09-24 -  Regular Meeting Minutes
	01-09-24 -  FOR AGENDA -Closed Session Meeting Minutes-Cone Commercial
	1-Staff Report - Occupancy Tax Public Hearing Date - 3-12-24
	CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION TO LEVY A LOCAL OPTION OCCUPANCY TAX
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	2-Occupancy Tax Public Hearing Notice February 2024
	AN2401_Staff Report -Set Date of PH
	AN2401 Zoning Map
	AN2401 Application
	AN2401 Annexation Plat
	AN2401 resolution of sufficiency
	AN2401 resolution fixing public hearing date
	RESOLUTION FIXING DATE OF MARCH 12, 2024, FOR A PUBLIC HEARING
	ON THE QUESTION OF A CONTIGUOUS ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S. 160A-31 FOR
	8.70 +/- ACRES LOCATED OFF S NC 87 HWY (AN2401)

	Staff Report - NCHIP - Health February 2024
	BUDGET AMENDMENT
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER/MELANIE KING
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	NCHIP Budget Amendment FY24
	PRESENTATION

	Staff Report LSLR Funding Resolution
	RESOLUTION FOR LSL FIELD SERVICE INVESTIGATION FUNDING
	SUBJECT:
	AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	Graham Resolution for LSLR Funding 2024
	CERTIFICATION BY RECORDING OFFICER

	Staff Report for Council Agenda - street closures for '24 downtown events
	ROAD CLOSURES FOR GRPD PROGRAMS IN DOWNTOWN GRAHAM
	SUBJECT:
	PROGRAM & RAIN DATES FOR: SLICE OF SUMMER – PUMPKIN BASH – THURSDAYS AT SEVEN CONCERT SERIES – 9/11 COMMEMORATIVE 5K
	BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	Staff Report Encroachment Agreement for 106 108 110 S Maple Street
	ENCROACHMENT AGREEMENT FOR 106,108, AND 110 S. MAPLE STREET
	SUBJECT:
	AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	2_108 S. Maple Encroachment Agreement- Draft- 11-27-2023
	Staff Report on Fire Hose Budget Amendment FY24 (002)
	FIRE HOSE INSURANCE CLAIM BUDGET AMENDMENT
	SUBJECT:
	MELANIE KING, FINANCE OFFICER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	Copy of Fire Hose Budget Amendment FY24
	PRESENTATION

	Staff Report - Conflict-of-Interest-Policy
	CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	Conflict-of-Interest-Policy
	MID YEAR REPORT
	RELEASES
	Staff Report - Intent to Purchase Sanitation Truck February 2024
	INTENT TO PURCHASE SANITATION TRUCK
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER/BURKE ROBERTSON
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	RESOLUTION OF INTENT TO PURCHASE A DURAPACK PYTHON 28
	Staff Report Water Tap Special Request for 1359 Terrywood Rd (1)
	WATER TAP SPECIAL REQUEST FOR 1359 TERRYWOOD ROAD
	SUBJECT:
	EVAN WORKMAN, PLANNER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	AN 2402- 1359 Terrywood Rd App (Special Request)
	Staff Report for Council Agenda - GRPD Sponsorship Policy & Procedures '24
	GRPD SPONSORSHIP POLICY
	SUBJECT:
	BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	GRPD Sponsorship Policy & Procedures - draft - Feb. '24



